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SPECIAL NOTE ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements in this report, including information incorporated by reference, are “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking
statements reflect current views about future events and financial performance based on certain assumptions. They include opinions, forecasts, intentions,
plans, goals, projections, guidance, expectations, beliefs or other statements that are not statements of historical fact. Words such as “may,” “will,” “should,”
“could,” “would,” “expects,” “plans,” “believes,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “estimates,” “approximates,” “predicts,” or “projects,” or the negative or other
variation of such words, and similar expressions may identify a statement as a forward-looking statement. Any statements that refer to projections of our
future financial performance, our anticipated growth and trends in our business, our goals, strategies, focus and plans, and other characterizations of future
events or circumstances, including statements expressing general optimism about future operating results, are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking
statements in this report may include statements about:
 

 •  future financial and operating results, including projections of net sales, revenue, income or loss, net income or loss per share, profit margins,
expenditures, liquidity, and other financial items;

 

 •  our ability to develop relationships with new customers and maintain or improve existing customer relationships;
 

 •  future levels of our revenue concentration risk:
 

 •  development of new products and marketing strategies;
 

 •  currency exchange rates, their effect on our results of operations and our ability to effectively hedge against foreign exchange risks;
 

 •  our ability to increase our marketing and advertising efforts for our Pathway to Healing  product line, the timing of such efforts and their effect
on future sales;

 

 •  distribution channels, product sales and performance, and timing of product shipments;
 

 •  inventories and the adequacy and intended use of our facilities;
 

 •  current or future customer orders;
 

 •  the impact on our business and results of operations and variations in quarterly net sales from seasonal and other factors;
 

 •  management’s goals and plans for future operations;
 

 •  our ability to improve operational efficiencies, manage costs and business risks and improve or maintain profitability;
 

 •  growth, expansion, diversification, acquisition, divestment and consolidation strategies, the success of such strategies, and the benefits we
believe can be derived from such strategies;

 

 •  personnel;
 

 •  the outcome of regulatory, tax and litigation matters and the cost associated with such matters;
 

 •  our ability to operate within the standards set by the Food and Drug Administration’s Good Manufacturing Practices;
 

 •  sources and availability of raw materials;
 

 •  operations outside the United States (U.S.);
 

 •  the adequacy of reserves and allowances;
 

 •  overall industry and market performance;
 

 •  competition and competitive advantages resulting from our quality commitment;
 

 •  current and future economic and political conditions;
 

 •  the impact of accounting pronouncements; and
 

 •  other assumptions described in this report underlying or relating to any forward-looking statements.

The forward-looking statements in this report speak only as of the date of this report and caution should be taken not to place undue reliance on any such
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are subject to certain events, risks, and uncertainties that may be outside of our control. When
considering forward-looking statements, you should carefully review the risks, uncertainties and other cautionary statements in this report as they identify
certain important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in or implied by the forward-looking statements. These
factors include, among others, the risks described under Item 1A of Part II and elsewhere in this report, as well as in other reports and documents we file with
the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).

Unless the context requires otherwise, all references in this report to the “Company,” “NAI,” “we,” “our,” and “us” refer to Natural Alternatives International,
Inc. and, as applicable, Natural Alternatives International Europe S.A. (NAIE), and our other wholly owned subsidiaries.
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PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NATURAL ALTERNATIVES INTERNATIONAL, INC.
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except share and per share data)
 

   
March 31,

2011   
June 30,

2010  
   (Unaudited)    
Assets    
Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 11,892   $ 8,547  
Accounts receivable—less allowance for doubtful accounts of $25 at March 31, 2011 and $26 at June 30, 2010    3,285    4,632  
Inventories, net    7,802    7,310  
Income tax receivable    1,142    1,142  
Prepaids and other current assets    2,018    1,354  

Total current assets    26,139    22,985  
Property and equipment, net    11,803    12,968  
Other noncurrent assets, net    159    195  

Total assets   $ 38,101   $36,148  
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity    
Current liabilities:    

Accounts payable   $ 2,086   $ 2,049  
Accrued liabilities    1,298    850  
Accrued compensation and employee benefits    732    1,366  
Income taxes payable    434    289  
Liabilities of discontinued operations    71    78  

Total current liabilities    4,621    4,632  
Deferred rent    773    906  

Total liabilities    5,394    5,538  
Commitments and contingencies    
Stockholders’ equity:    

Preferred stock; $.01 par value; 500,000 shares authorized; none issued or outstanding    —      —    
Common stock; $.01 par value; 20,000,000 shares authorized; issued and outstanding 7,300,677 at March 31, 2011 and

7,290,677 at June 30, 2010    72    72  
Additional paid-in capital    19,406    19,199  
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (472)   (415) 
Retained earnings    14,800    12,853  
Treasury stock, at cost, 180,941 shares at March 31, 2011 and June 30, 2010    (1,099)   (1,099) 

Total stockholders’ equity    32,707    30,610  
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 38,101   $36,148  

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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NATURAL ALTERNATIVES INTERNATIONAL, INC.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income

(In thousands, except share and per share data)
(Unaudited)

 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,   
Nine Months Ended

March 31,  
   2011   2010   2011   2010  
Net sales   $ 13,375   $ 16,975   $ 41,484   $ 51,185  
Cost of goods sold    10,991    14,040    33,576    42,625  
Gross profit    2,384    2,935    7,908    8,560  
Selling, general & administrative expenses    2,126    2,098    5,601    5,580  
Operating income from continuing operations    258    837    2,307    2,980  
Other (expense) income:      

Interest income    4    4    12    11  
Interest expense    (12)   (26)   (41)   (92) 
Foreign exchange gain (loss)    1    (137)   22    (139) 
Other, net    —      8    2    52  

   (7)   (151)   (5)   (168) 
Income from continuing operations before income taxes    251    686    2,302    2,812  
Provision (benefit) for income taxes    70    (1,206)   355    (940) 
Income from continuing operations    181    1,892    1,947    3,752  
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax    —      2    —      157  
Net income   $ 181   $ 1,894   $ 1,947   $ 3,909  
Unrealized loss resulting from change in fair value of derivative instruments, net of

tax    (58)   —      (58)   —    
Comprehensive income   $ 123   $ 1,894   $ 1,889   $ 3,909  
Net income per common share:      

Basic:      
Continuing operations   $ 0.03   $ 0.27   $ 0.27   $ 0.53  
Discontinued operations    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.02  
Net income   $ 0.03   $ 0.27   $ 0.27   $ 0.55  

Diluted:      
Continuing operations   $ 0.03   $ 0.27   $ 0.27   $ 0.53  
Discontinued operations    0.00    0.00    0.00    0.02  
Net income   $ 0.03   $ 0.27   $ 0.27   $ 0.55  

Weighted average common shares outstanding:      
Basic    7,117,847    7,083,980    7,112,440    7,074,616  
Diluted    7,122,027    7,106,256    7,121,042    7,104,630  

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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NATURAL ALTERNATIVES INTERNATIONAL, INC.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

 

   
Nine Months Ended

March 31,  
   2011   2010  
Cash flows from operating activities    
Income from continuing operations   $ 1,947   $ 3,752  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:    

Reduction of uncollectible accounts receivable    (1)   (4) 
Depreciation and amortization    2,429    2,438  
Non-cash equipment impairment charge    —      325  
Non-cash compensation    179    181  
Pension contribution, net of expense    37    (412) 
Loss on disposal of assets    4    16  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    

Accounts receivable    1,348    715  
Inventories, net    (492)   984  
Other assets    (628)   (274) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities    258    (1,386) 
Income taxes payable (receivable)    145    (1,299) 
Accrued compensation and employee benefits    (634)   (54) 

Net cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations    4,592    4,982  
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities from discontinued operations    (7)   323  
Net cash provided by operating activities    4,585    5,305  

Cash flows from investing activities    
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment    45    —    
Capital expenditures    (1,313)   (1,953) 
Certificate of deposit    —      699  
Net cash used by investing activities from continuing operations    (1,268)   (1,254) 
Net cash provided by investing activities from discontinued operations, including proceeds from the sale of the legacy RHL

business assets    —      500  
Net cash used by investing activities    (1,268)   (754) 

Cash flows from financing activities    
Payments on long-term debt    —      (771) 
Net activity from issuance of common stock    28    41  
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities    28    (730) 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    3,345    3,821  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    8,547    3,995  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $11,892   $ 7,816  

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information    
Cash paid during the period for:    

Interest   $ 20   $ 89  
Taxes   $ 223   $ 368  

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(UNAUDITED)

A. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the instructions to Form 10-Q and
applicable rules and regulations. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations. In management’s opinion, all adjustments
necessary for a fair presentation of the financial position, results of operations and cash flows have been included and are of a normal, recurring nature. The
results of operations for the three and nine months ended March 31, 2011 are not necessarily indicative of the operating results for the full fiscal year or any
future periods.

You should read the financial statements and these notes, which are an integral part of the financial statements, together with our audited financial statements
included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010 (“2010 Annual Report”). The accounting policies used to prepare the
financial statements included in this report are the same as those described in the notes to the consolidated financial statements in our 2010 Annual Report
unless otherwise noted below.

Net Income per Common Share
We compute net income per common share using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period, and diluted net income per
common share using the additional dilutive effect of all dilutive securities. The dilutive impact of stock options account for the additional weighted average
shares of common stock outstanding for our diluted net income per common share computation. We calculated basic and diluted net income per common
share as follows (in thousands, except per share data):
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,    
Nine Months Ended

March 31,  
   2011    2010    2011    2010  
Numerator         
Net income   $ 181    $ 1,894    $1,947    $3,909  
Denominator         
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding    7,118     7,084     7,112     7,075  
Dilutive effect of stock options    4     22     9     30  
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding    7,122     7,106     7,121     7,105  
Basic net income per common share   $ 0.03    $ 0.27    $ 0.27    $ 0.55  
Diluted net income per common share   $ 0.03    $ 0.27    $ 0.27    $ 0.55  

Shares related to stock options representing the right to acquire 616,750 shares of common stock for the three months ended March 31, 2011, and 569,500
shares for the nine months ended March 31, 2011, were excluded from the calculation of diluted net income per common share, as the effect of their inclusion
would have been anti-dilutive.

Shares related to stock options representing the right to acquire 305,354 shares of common stock for the three months ended March 31, 2010, and 426,995
shares for the nine months ended March 31, 2010, were excluded from the calculation of diluted net income per common share, as the effect of their inclusion
would have been anti-dilutive.

Revenue Recognition
To recognize revenue four basic criteria must be met: 1) there is evidence that an arrangement exists; 2) delivery has occurred; 3) the fee is fixed or
determinable; and 4) collectability is reasonably assured. Revenue from sales transactions where the buyer has the right to return the product is recognized at
the time of sale only if (1) the seller’s price to the buyer is substantially fixed or determinable at the date of sale; (2) the buyer has paid the seller, or the buyer
is obligated to pay the seller and the obligation is not contingent on resale of the product; (3) the buyer’s obligation to the seller would not be changed in the
event of theft or physical destruction or damage of the product; (4) the buyer acquiring the product for resale has economic substance apart from that
provided by the seller; (5) the seller does not have significant obligations for future performance to directly bring about resale of the product by the buyer;
and (6) the amount of future returns can be reasonably estimated. We recognize revenue upon determination that all criteria for revenue recognition have
been met. The criteria are usually met at the time title passes to the customer, which usually occurs upon shipment. Revenue from shipments where title
passes upon delivery is deferred until the shipment has been delivered.
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We record reductions to gross revenue for estimated returns of private label contract manufacturing products and branded products. The estimated returns are
based on the trailing six months of private label contract manufacturing gross sales and our historical experience for both private label contract
manufacturing and branded product returns. However, the estimate for product returns does not reflect the impact of a large product recall resulting from
product nonconformance or other factors as such events are not predictable nor is the related economic impact estimable.

We currently have rights to certain U.S. patents, and each patent’s corresponding foreign patent applications. All of these patents and patent rights relate to
the ingredient known as beta-alanine marketed and sold under the CarnoSyn  trade name. We have sold this ingredient to a customer for use in a limited
market, and in March 2009 entered into an agreement with Compound Solutions, Inc. (CSI) under which we agreed to grant a license of certain of our patent
rights to customers of CSI who purchase beta-alanine from CSI. We receive a fee from CSI that varies based on the amount of net sales of beta-alanine sold by
CSI less CSI’s costs and other agreed upon expenses. We recorded royalty income as a component of revenue in the amount of $720,000 during the three
months ended March 31, 2011 and $244,000 during the three months ended March 31, 2010. We recorded royalty income as a component of revenue in the
amount of $1.3 million during the nine months ended March 31, 2011 and $707,000 during the nine months ended March 31, 2010. These royalty income
amounts are offset by royalty expense paid to the original patent holders. We recognized royalty expense as a component of cost of goods sold in the amount
of $107,000 during the three months ended March 31, 2011 and $43,000 during the three months ended March 31, 2010. We recognized royalty expense as a
component of cost of goods sold in the amount of $214,000 during the nine months ended March 31, 2011 and $124,000 during the nine months ended
March 31, 2010.

Stock-Based Compensation
We have an omnibus incentive plan that was approved by our Board of Directors effective as of October 15, 2009 and approved by our stockholders at the
Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on November 30, 2009. Under the plan, we may grant nonqualified and incentive stock options and other stock-based
awards to employees, non-employee directors and consultants. Our prior equity incentive plan was terminated effective as of November 30, 2009. We also
had an employee stock purchase plan that was terminated effective as of June 30, 2009.

We estimate the fair value of stock option awards at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model. The Black-Scholes option valuation
model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. Option valuation
models require the input of highly subjective assumptions. Black-Scholes uses assumptions related to volatility, the risk-free interest rate, the dividend yield
(which we assume to be zero, as we have not paid any cash dividends) and employee exercise behavior. Expected volatilities used in the model are based
mainly on the historical volatility of our stock price. The risk-free interest rate is derived from the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect in the period of grant.
The expected life of stock option grants is derived from historical experience.

Our net income included stock based compensation expense of approximately $69,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and approximately
$179,000 for the nine months ended March 31, 2011. Our net income included stock based compensation expense of approximately $69,000 for the three
months ended March 31, 2010 and approximately $181,000 for the nine months ended March 31, 2010.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (i.e., the “exit price”) in the principal or most
advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. We use a three-level hierarchy
for inputs used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that
observable inputs be used when available. Observable inputs are inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on market
data obtained from independent sources. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect our assumptions about the inputs that market participants would use in
pricing the asset or liability and are developed based on the best information available under the circumstances.

The fair value hierarchy is broken down into three levels based on the source of inputs. In general, fair values determined by Level 1 inputs use quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to access. We classify cash, cash equivalents, and marketable
securities balances as Level 1 assets. Fair values determined by Level 2 inputs are based on quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets,
quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active and models for which all significant inputs are observable or can be
corroborated, either directly or indirectly by observable market data. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability, and include situations
where there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability. These include certain pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar
techniques that use significant unobservable inputs.
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Our financial statements include the following Level 1 financial instruments: cash equivalents, accounts receivable, short-term investments, accounts
payable, and accrued expenses. We believe the carrying amounts of these assets and liabilities in the financial statements approximate the fair values of these
financial instruments at March 31, 2011 and June 30, 2010. We classify derivative forward exchange contracts as Level 2 assets. The fair value of our forward
exchange contracts as of March 31, 2011 was a liability of $93,000. We did not have any forward exchange contracts as of June 30, 2010. As of March 31,
2011 and June 30, 2010, we did not have any financial assets or liabilities classified as Level 3.

B. Discontinued Operations
In an effort to enhance stockholder value, improve working capital and enable us to focus on our core contract manufacturing business, during the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2008 we undertook a careful review of our branded products portfolio and operations. As a result, we decided to narrow our branded products
focus and portfolio and developed a plan to do so, which included a decision to sell the legacy business of Real Health Laboratories, Inc. (RHL).

On July 29, 2009, we entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with PharmaCare US Inc. and PharmaCare Laboratories Pty Ltd. for the sale of substantially
all of the remaining assets of RHL related to its wholesale and direct-to-consumer business. The sale closed on July 31, 2009 for a cash purchase price of
$500,000. NAI provided a guarantee of RHL’s indemnity obligations under the Asset Purchase Agreement, which potential liability is capped at the amount
of the purchase price paid by the buyers to RHL. We recorded a loss of $6,000 as a result of this sale during the first quarter of fiscal 2010. Following the sale
of substantially all of the assets of RHL, we changed the name of RHL to Disposition Company, Inc.

As part of the original Asset Purchase Agreement, we had the potential to receive up to an additional $500,000 from the buyers as a conditional earn-out if
the RHL business acquired by the buyers met or exceeded certain budgeted profitability criteria during the period August 1, 2009 through July 31, 2010.
Effective as of February 12, 2010, based on the loss of one or more customers, the results of operation of the RHL business since the closing date of the sale,
the anticipated results of operation of the RHL business through July 31, 2010, and the corresponding anticipated reduction in and/or elimination of the
conditional earn-out amount, and in an effort to avoid the time and expense associated with the procedures required in connection with the earn-out,
including, without limitation, the time and expense associated with the preparation of the required reports and a review of the books and records of
PharmaCare US and PharmaCare Australia, we amended the Asset Purchase Agreement to eliminate the potential earn-out compensation.

As the plan to dispose of the legacy RHL business met the criteria of accounting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets, the current and prior
periods presented in this report have been classified to reflect the legacy RHL business as discontinued operations.

As a result of our decision to sell the legacy RHL business, we executed and substantially completed an operational consolidation program during the first
quarter of fiscal 2009 that transitioned the remaining branded products business operations to our corporate offices. The program resulted in a charge to
discontinued operations for severance and other business related exit costs during the year ended June 30, 2009. There was no balance or activity related to
restructuring programs during the nine months ended March 31, 2011. The following table presents the activity and the reserve balances related to these
restructuring programs for the nine months ended March 31, 2010 (in thousands):
 

   
Balance at

June 30, 2009   
Charges to

Expense    
Cash

Payments  

Balance at
March 31,

2010  
Employee termination costs   $ 19    $ 1    $ (20)  $ —    
Lease liabilities and related facility closure costs    15     1     (16)   —    
Total   $ 34    $ 2    $ (36)  $ —    

The following table summarizes the results of the legacy RHL business, classified as discontinued operations, for the periods ended March 31 (in thousands):
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Three Months Ended

March 31,   
Nine Months Ended

March 31,  
   2011    2010   2011    2010  
Net sales   $ —      $ —     $ —      $ 323  
Cost of goods sold and operating expense    —       30    —       155  
Restructuring expenses    —       —      —       (2) 
Loss on the sale of remaining legacy RHL assets    —       —      —       6  
Other expense    —       —      —       7  
(Loss) income before income taxes    —       (30)   —       157  
Income tax benefit    —       (32)   —       —    
Income from discontinued operations   $ —      $ 2   $ —      $ 157  

Assets and liabilities of the legacy RHL business included in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets are summarized as follows (in thousands):
 
   March 31, 2011  June 30, 2010 
Total assets   $ —     $ —    
Liabilities    

Accrued liabilities    71    78  
Total liabilities    71    78  
Net liabilities of discontinued operations   $ (71)  $ (78) 

C. Inventories
Inventories, net consisted of the following (in thousands):
 

   
March 31,

2011   
June 30,

2010  
Raw materials   $ 5,210   $5,541  
Work in progress    1,775    1,000  
Finished goods    1,520    1,605  
Reserves    (703)   (836) 

  $ 7,802   $7,310  

D. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consisted of the following (dollars in thousands):
 

   
Depreciable

Life In Years   
March 31,

2011   
June 30,

2010  
Land    N/A    $ 393   $ 393  
Building and building improvements    7 – 39     2,756    2,755  
Machinery and equipment    3 – 12     25,967    25,403  
Office equipment and furniture    3 – 5     2,996    3,203  
Vehicles    3     136    136  
Leasehold improvements    1 – 15     10,082    10,067  
Total property and equipment      42,330    41,957  
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization      (30,527)   (28,989) 
Property and equipment, net     $ 11,803   $ 12,968  

E. Debt
On December 16, 2010, we executed a new Credit Agreement (“Credit Agreement”) with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association. This Credit Agreement
replaced our previous credit facility and provides us with a line of credit of up to $5.0 million. The line of credit may be used to finance working capital
requirements. In consideration for granting the line of credit, we paid a commitment fee of $12,500 and must pay an additional commitment fee of $12,500
on or before December 1, 2011. There are no amounts currently drawn under the line of credit.
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Under the terms of the Credit Agreement, borrowings are subject to eligibility requirements including maintaining (i) net income after taxes of not less than
$750,000 on a trailing four quarter basis as of the end of each calendar quarter beginning with the four quarter period ended December 31, 2010; and (ii) a
ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth of not greater than 1.25 to 1.0 at any time. Any amounts outstanding under the line of credit will bear interest at
a fixed or fluctuating interest rate as elected by NAI from time to time; provided, however, that if the outstanding principal amount is less than $100,000 such
amount shall bear interest at the then applicable fluctuating rate of interest. If elected, the fluctuating rate per annum would be equal to 2.75% above the
daily one month LIBOR rate as in effect from time to time. If a fixed rate is elected, it would equal a per annum rate of 2.50% above the LIBOR rate in effect
on the first day of the applicable fixed rate term. Any amounts outstanding under the line of credit must be paid in full on or before November 1, 2012;
provided, however, that we must maintain a zero balance on advances under the line of credit for a period of at least 30 consecutive days during each fiscal
year. Amounts outstanding that are subject to a fluctuating interest rate may be prepaid at any time without penalty. Amounts outstanding that are subject to
a fixed interest rate may be prepaid at any time in minimum amounts of $100,000, subject to a prepayment fee equal to the sum of the discounted monthly
differences for each month from the month of prepayment through the month in which the then applicable fixed rate term matures.

Our obligations under the Credit Agreement are secured by our accounts receivable and other rights to payment, general intangibles, inventory, equipment
and fixtures. We also have a foreign exchange facility with Wells Fargo in effect until November 1, 2012, and with Bank of America, N.A. in effect until
March 15, 2012.

On March 31, 2011, we were in compliance with all of the financial and other covenants required under the Credit Agreement.

On September 22, 2006, NAIE, our wholly owned subsidiary, entered into a credit facility to provide it with a credit line of up to CHF 1.3 million, or
approximately $1.4 million, which was the initial maximum aggregate amount that could be outstanding at any one time under the credit facility. This
maximum amount is reduced annually by CHF 160,000, or approximately $174,000. On February 19, 2007, NAIE amended its credit facility to provide that
the maximum aggregate amount that may be outstanding under the facility cannot be reduced below CHF 500,000, or approximately $543,000. As of
March 31, 2011, there was no outstanding balance under this credit facility.

Under its credit facility, NAIE may draw amounts either as current account loan credits to its current or future bank accounts or as fixed loans with a
maximum term of 24 months. Current account loans will bear interest at the rate of 5% per annum. Fixed loans will bear interest at a rate determined by the
parties based on current market conditions and must be repaid pursuant to a repayment schedule established by the parties at the time of the loan. If a fixed
loan is repaid early at NAIE’s election or in connection with the termination of the credit facility, NAIE will be charged a pre-payment penalty equal to 0.1%
of the principal amount of the fixed loan or CHF 1,000 (approximately $1,085), whichever is greater. The bank reserves the right to refuse individual requests
for an advance under the credit facility, although its exercise of such right will not have the effect of terminating the credit facility as a whole.

We did not use our working capital line of credit nor did we have any long-term debt outstanding during the nine months ended March 31, 2011. The
composite interest rate on all of our debt outstanding during the nine months ended March 31, 2010 was 14.79%.

F. Defined Benefit Pension Plan
We sponsor a defined benefit pension plan that provides retirement benefits to employees based generally on years of service and compensation during the
last five years before retirement. Effective June 20, 1999, we adopted an amendment to freeze benefit accruals to the participants. We contribute an amount
not less than the minimum funding requirements of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 nor more than the maximum tax-deductible
amount.

The components included in the net periodic expense for the periods ended March 31 were as follows (in thousands):
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,   
Nine Months Ended

March 31,  
   2011   2010   2011   2010  
Interest cost   $ 22   $ 21   $ 66   $ 63  
Expected return on plan assets    (10)   (13)   (30)   (39) 
Net periodic expense   $ 12   $ 8   $ 36   $ 24  

G. Economic Dependency

We had substantial net sales to certain customers during the periods shown in the following table. The loss of any of these customers, or a significant decline
in net sales or the growth rate of sales to these customers, or in their ability to make payments
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when due, could have a material adverse impact on our net sales and net income. Net sales to any one customer representing 10% or more of the respective
period’s total net sales were as follows (dollars in thousands):
 

   Three Months Ended March 31,   Nine Months Ended March 31,  
   2011   2010   2011   2010  

   
Net Sales by

Customer    
% of Total
Net Sales   

Net Sales by
Customer    

% of Total
Net Sales   

Net Sales by
Customer    

% of Total
Net Sales   

Net Sales by
Customer    

% of Total
Net Sales  

Customer 1   $ 7,088     53%  $ 9,421     55%  $ 21,579     52%  $ 25,697     50% 
Customer 2    3,079     23    4,362     26    8,846     21    16,840     33  

  $ 10,167     76%  $ 13,783     81%  $ 30,425     73%  $ 42,537     83% 

We buy certain products from a limited number of raw material suppliers. The loss of any of these suppliers could have a material adverse impact on our net
sales and net income. Raw material purchases from any one supplier representing 10% or more of the respective period’s total raw material purchases were as
follows (dollars in thousands):
 

   Three Months Ended March 31,   Nine Months Ended March 31,  
   2011   2010   2011   2010  

   

Raw
Material

Purchases 
by

Supplier   

% of Total
Raw

Material
Purchases   

Raw
Material

Purchases 
by

Supplier    

% of Total
Raw

Material
Purchases   

Raw
Material

Purchases 
by

Supplier   

% of Total
Raw

Material
Purchases   

Raw
Material

Purchases 
by

Supplier    

% of Total
Raw

Material
Purchases  

Supplier 1    (a)   (a)  $ 651     11%   (a)   (a)  $ 2,360     11% 
Supplier 2    (a)   (a)   673     11    (a)   (a)   2,638     12  
Supplier 3    490    12    689     11    1,791    11    3,300     15  

  $ 490    12%  $ 2,013     33%  $ 1,791    11%  $ 8,298     38% 
 

(a) Purchases were less than 10% of the respective period’s total raw material purchases.

H. Segment Information
Our business consists of two segments, identified as private label contract manufacturing, which primarily provides private label contract manufacturing
services to companies that market and distribute nutritional supplements and other health care products and includes royalty income from our CSI license
agreement associated with the sale of beta-alanine under our CarnosSyn  trade name, and branded products, which markets and distributes branded
nutritional supplements. Following the completion of the sale of substantially all of the assets of RHL, our branded products segment consists primarily of
the products sold under our Pathway to Healing  product line.

We evaluate performance based on a number of factors. The primary performance measures for each segment are net sales and income or loss from operations
before corporate allocations. Operating income or loss for each segment does not include corporate general and administrative expenses, interest expense and
other miscellaneous income and expense items. Corporate general and administrative expenses include, but are not limited to: human resources, legal,
finance, information technology, and other corporate level related expenses, which are not allocated to either segment. The accounting policies of our
segments are the same as those described in Note A above and in the consolidated financial statements included in our 2010 Annual Report.

Our operating results from continuing operations by business segment were as follows (in thousands):
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,    
Nine Months Ended

March 31,  
   2011    2010    2011    2010  
Net Sales         

Private label contract manufacturing   $12,944    $16,439    $40,094    $49,487  
Branded products    431     536     1,390     1,698  

  $13,375    $16,975    $41,484    $51,185  
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Three Months Ended

March 31,   
Nine Months Ended

March 31,  
   2011   2010   2011   2010  
Income from Operations      

Private label contract manufacturing   $ 1,757   $ 2,276   $ 6,095   $ 6,627  
Branded products    85    164    273    394  
Income from operations of reportable segments    1,842    2,440    6,368    7,021  
Corporate expenses not allocated to segments    (1,584)   (1,603)   (4,061)   (4,041) 

  $ 258   $ 837   $ 2,307   $ 2,980  

         
March 31,

2011   
June 30,

2010  
Total Assets      

Private label contract manufacturing    $37,925   $35,867  
Branded products     176    281  

    $38,101   $36,148  

Our private label contract manufacturing products are sold both in the United States and in markets outside the United States, including Europe, Australia
and Asia. Our primary market outside the United States is Europe. Our branded products are sold only in the United States.

Net sales by geographic region, based on the customers’ locations, were as follows (in thousands):
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,    
Nine Months Ended

March 31,  
   2011    2010    2011    2010  
United States   $ 8,703    $ 9,325    $26,423    $31,273  
Markets outside the United States    4,672     7,650     15,061     19,912  

Total net sales   $13,375    $16,975    $41,484    $51,185  

Products manufactured by NAIE accounted for approximately 67% of net sales in markets outside the United States for the three months ended March 31,
2011, and 69% for the three months ended March 31, 2010. NAIE accounted for 63% of net sales in markets outside the United States for the nine months
ended March 31, 2011, and 58% for the nine months ended March 31, 2010. No products manufactured by NAIE were sold in the United States during the
nine months ended March 31, 2011 and 2010.

Assets and capital expenditures by geographic region, based on the location of the company or subsidiary at which they were located or made, were as
follows (in thousands):
 
           Capital Expenditures  
   Long-Lived Assets    Total Assets    Nine Months Ended  

   
March 31,

2011    
June 30,

2010    
March 31,

2011    
June 30,

2010    
March 31,

2011    
March 31,

2010  
United States   $ 9,595    $10,985    $28,385    $27,262    $ 730    $ 1,601  
Europe    2,367     2,178     9,716     8,886     583     352  

  $11,962    $13,163    $38,101    $36,148    $ 1,313    $ 1,953  

I. Income Taxes
The effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2011 was 27.9% and the effective tax rate for the nine months ended March 31, 2011 was 15.4%.
The rate differs from the U.S. federal statutory rate of 35% primarily due to the favorable impact from the reversal of the valuation allowance related to the
projected realization of the deferred tax asset for the federal net operating loss carryforwards and the favorable impact of foreign earnings taxed at less than
the U.S. statutory rate.

To determine our quarterly provision for income taxes, we use an estimated annual effective tax rate, which is based on expected annual income, statutory tax
rates and tax planning opportunities available in the various jurisdictions to which the Company is
 

11



Table of Contents

subject. Certain significant or unusual items are separately recognized in the quarter in which they occur and can be a source of variability in the effective tax
rate from quarter to quarter. We recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions, if any, as an income tax expense.

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences of
temporary differences between the financial reporting basis and tax basis of our assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

We are subject to taxation in the U.S., Switzerland and various state jurisdictions. Our tax years for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2006 and forward are
subject to examination by U.S. and state tax authorities and our tax years for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 and forward are subject to examination by
the Switzerland tax authorities.

We do not record U.S. income tax expense for NAIE’s retained earnings that are declared as indefinitely reinvested offshore, thus reducing our overall income
tax expense. The amount of earnings designated as indefinitely reinvested in NAIE is based on the actual deployment of such earnings in NAIE’s assets and
our expectations of the future cash needs of our U.S. and foreign entities. Income tax laws are also a factor in determining the amount of foreign earnings to be
indefinitely reinvested offshore.

It is our policy to establish reserves based on management’s assessment of exposure for certain positions taken in previously filed tax returns that may
become payable upon audit by tax authorities. The tax reserves are analyzed at least annually, generally in the fourth quarter of each year, and adjustments
are made as events occur that we believe warrant adjustments to the reserve.

J. Derivatives and Hedging
We are exposed to gains and losses resulting from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates relating to forecasted product sales denominated in foreign
currencies and transactions of NAIE, our foreign subsidiary. As part of our overall strategy to manage the level of exposure to the risk of fluctuations in
foreign currency exchange rates, we may use foreign exchange contracts in the form of forward contracts. There can be no guarantee any such contracts, to the
extent we enter into such contracts, will be effective hedges against our foreign currency exchange risk.

During the three and nine months ended March 31, 2011 we entered into forward contracts designated as cash flow hedges primarily to protect against the
foreign exchange risks inherent in our forecasted sales of products at prices denominated in currencies other than the U.S. Dollar. These contracts are
expected to be settled through July 2011. For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, we record the effective portion of
the gain or loss on the derivative in accumulated other comprehensive income (“OCI”) as a separate component of stockholders’ equity and subsequently
reclassify these amounts into earnings in the period during which the hedged transaction is recognized in earnings.

For foreign currency contracts designated as cash flow hedges, hedge effectiveness is measured using the spot rate. Changes in the spot-forward differential
are excluded from the test of hedge effectiveness and are recorded currently in earnings as interest expense. We measure effectiveness by comparing the
cumulative change in the hedge contract with the cumulative change in the hedged item. During the three and nine months ended March 31, 2011, we did
not have any material losses or gains related to the ineffective portion of our hedging instruments in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
and Comprehensive Income. No hedging relationships were terminated as a result of ineffective hedging or forecasted transactions no longer probable of
occurring for foreign currency forward contracts. We monitor the probability of forecasted transactions as part of the hedge effectiveness testing on a
quarterly basis.

As of March 31, 2011, the notional amounts of our foreign exchange contracts designated as cash flow hedges were approximately $4.4 million (EUR 3.1
million). As of March 31, 2011, a net loss of approximately $58,000 related to derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges was recorded in OCI. It
is expected that $58,000 will be reclassified into earnings in the next 12 months along with the earnings effects of the related forecasted transactions.

As of March 31, 2011, the fair value of our cash flow hedges was a liability of $93,000 and was classified in accrued liabilities in our Consolidated Balance
Sheets. During the three months ended March 31, 2011, we recognized $226,000 of losses in OCI and reclassified $43,000 of gains from OCI to revenue.
During the nine months ended March 31, 2011, we recognized $39,000 of gains in OCI and reclassified $97,000 of gains from OCI to revenue. We did not
have any hedging activity during the three and nine months ended March 31, 2010.

K. Contingencies
From time to time, we become involved in various investigations, claims and legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of our business. These
matters may relate to intellectual property, product liability, employment, tax, regulation, contract or other
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matters. The resolution of these matters as they arise will be subject to various uncertainties and, even if such claims are without merit, could result in the
expenditure of significant financial and managerial resources. While unfavorable outcomes are possible, based on available information, we generally do not
believe the resolution of these matters will result in a material adverse effect on our business, consolidated financial condition, or results of operations.
However, a settlement payment or unfavorable outcome could adversely impact our results of operations. Our evaluation of the likely impact of these actions
could change in the future and we could have unfavorable outcomes that we do not expect.

As of May 16, 2011, except as described below, neither NAI nor its subsidiaries were a party to any material pending legal proceeding nor was any of their
property the subject of any material pending legal proceeding. On November 11, 2009, NAI filed a lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the District of
Delaware, accusing Vital Pharmaceutical, Inc. and DNP International Co., Inc. of infringing certain patents owned by NAI relating to the ingredient known as
beta-alanine marketed and sold under the CarnoSyn  trade name. NAI asserted claims for unfair competition and false marking, among others, against one or
both of the companies named in this lawsuit and is seeking an injunction against continued infringement and violations and damages for past infringement
and violations including, among others, punitive damages and attorneys’ fees. During the nine months ended March 31, 2011, NAI incurred litigation
expenses relating to this lawsuit of approximately $770,000. Unless otherwise settled, NAI expects its litigation expenses related to this lawsuit during the
remainder of fiscal 2011 to increase. Although we believe this litigation is supported by valid claims, there is no assurance NAI will prevail in these litigation
proceedings or in similar proceedings it may initiate or that litigation expenses will be as anticipated.

On July 31, 2009, RHL sold substantially all of its remaining assets related to its wholesale and direct-to-consumer business to PharmaCare US Inc. and
PharmaCare Laboratories Pty Ltd. for a cash purchase price of $500,000. NAI provided a guarantee of RHL’s indemnity obligations under the asset purchase
agreement, which potential liability is capped at the amount of the purchase price paid by the buyers to RHL. The guaranty continues for a minimum period
of three years from the date of the Asset Purchase Agreement.

L. Subsequent Events
On April 27, 2011, we purchased twelve forward contracts designated as cash flow hedges to protect against the foreign currency exchange risk inherent in a
portion of our forecasted sales transactions denominated in Euros. The twelve contracts expire monthly beginning August 2011 and ending July 2012. The
forward contracts had a notional amount of 3.3 million Euros and a weighted average forward rate of $1.47.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion and analysis is intended to help you understand our financial condition and results of operations for the three and nine months
ended March 31, 2011. You should read the following discussion and analysis together with our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and
the notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements included under Item 1 in this report, as well as the risk factors and other information included in
our 2010 Annual Report and other reports and documents we file with the SEC. Our future financial condition and results of operations will vary from our
historical financial condition and results of operations described below based on a variety of factors.

Executive Overview
The following overview does not address all of the matters covered in the other sections of this Item 2 or other items in this report or contain all of the
information that may be important to our stockholders or the investing public. This overview should be read in conjunction with the other sections of this
Item 2 and this report.

Our primary business activity is providing private label contract manufacturing services to companies that market and distribute vitamins, minerals, herbs
and other nutritional supplements, as well as other health care products, to consumers both within and outside the United States. Historically, our revenue has
been largely dependent on sales to one or two private label contract manufacturing customers and subject to variations in the timing of such customers’
orders, which in turn is impacted by such customers’ internal marketing programs, supply chain management, entry into new markets, new product
introductions, the demand for such customers’ products and general industry and economic conditions.

A cornerstone of our business strategy is to achieve long-term growth and profitability and to diversify our sales base. We have sought and expect to continue
to seek to diversify our sales by developing relationships with additional, quality-oriented, private label contract manufacturing customers, developing and
growing our own line of branded products and commercializing our patent estate through contract manufacturing, royalty and license agreements.

During the first nine months of fiscal 2011, our net sales from continuing operations were 19.0% lower than in the first nine months of fiscal 2010. Private
label contract manufacturing sales declined 19.0% due primarily to lower volumes of existing products in existing markets sold to our two largest customers.
This decline was partially offset by new product sales to new and existing customers and increased royalty income related to our license agreement with CSI
for the distribution of beta-alanine. Royalty income totaled $1.3 million for the nine months ended March 31, 2011 and $707, 000 for the prior year period
representing an 84% increase. Subject to raw material availability, we expect our beta-alanine royalty income to continue to increase in future periods.

Our revenue concentration risk for our two largest customers decreased to 73% as a percentage of our total sales from continuing operations for the first nine
months of fiscal 2011 compared to 83% in the first nine months of fiscal 2010. We expect our contract manufacturing revenue concentration percentage for
our two largest customers to remain relatively consistent for the remainder of fiscal 2011.

Net sales from our branded products declined 18.1% in the first nine months of fiscal 2011 as compared to the first nine months of fiscal 2010 due to the
continued softening of our Pathway to Healing  product line. During the first nine months of fiscal 2011, we began the process of re-launching a portion of
our Pathway to Healing  product line and intend to further increase our marketing and advertising efforts for this product line during the remainder of fiscal
2011 in an effort to expand our future sales opportunities.

On November 11, 2009, NAI filed a lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware, accusing Vital Pharmaceutical, Inc. and DNP International
Co., Inc. of infringing certain patents owned by NAI relating to the ingredient known as beta-alanine marketed and sold under the CarnoSyn  trade name.
NAI asserted claims for unfair competition and false marking, among others, against one or both of the companies named in this lawsuit and is seeking an
injunction against continued infringement and violations and damages for past infringement and violations including, among others, punitive damages and
attorneys’ fees. During the nine months ended March 31, 2011, NAI incurred litigation expenses relating to this lawsuit of approximately $770,000. Unless
otherwise settled, NAI expects its litigation expenses related to this lawsuit during the remainder of fiscal 2011 to continue at a rate of approximately
$400,000 to $500,000 per quarter. Although we believe this litigation is supported by valid claims, there is no assurance NAI will prevail in these litigation
proceedings or in similar proceedings it may initiate or that litigation expenses will be as anticipated.

During the remainder of fiscal 2011, we plan to continue to focus on:
 

 •  Leveraging our state of the art, certified facilities to increase the value of the goods and services we provide to our highly valued private label
contract manufacturing customers, and assist us in developing relationships with additional quality oriented customers;

 

 •  Implementing focused initiatives to grow our Pathway to Healing  product line;
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 •  Commercializing our patent estate through contract manufacturing, royalties and license agreements and protecting our proprietary rights; and
 

 •  Improving operational efficiencies and managing costs and business risks to improve profitability.

Looking forward, as a result of continued uncertain near-term economic conditions and anticipated reduced sales volumes combined with increased litigation
expense, we expect net sales and net operating income from continuing operations during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011 to be lower than the comparable
prior year period. Our results could be further negatively affected by unfavorable foreign currency exchange activity associated with a decline in the Euro
and greater than expected litigation expenses associated with our patent infringement litigation.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The preparation of our financial statements requires that we make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in our financial statements and
their accompanying notes. We have identified certain policies that we believe are important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of
operations. These policies require the application of significant judgment by our management. We base our estimates on our historical experience, industry
standards, and various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ from these estimates under
different assumptions or conditions. An adverse effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, and results of operations could occur if
circumstances change that alter the various assumptions or conditions used in such estimates or assumptions.

Our critical accounting policies are discussed under Item 7 of our 2010 Annual Report. There have been no significant changes to these policies during the
nine months ended March 31, 2011.

Results of Operations
The results of our operations for the periods ended March 31 were as follows (in thousands):
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,   
Nine Months Ended

March 31,  

   2011   2010   
%

Change  2011   2010   
%

Change 
Private label contract manufacturing   $12,944   $16,439    (21)  $40,094   $49,487    (19) 
Branded products    431    536    (20)   1,390    1,698    (18) 
Total net sales    13,375    16,975    (21)   41,484    51,185    (19) 
Cost of goods sold    10,991    14,040    (22)   33,576    42,625    (21) 
Gross profit    2,384    2,935    (19)   7,908    8,560    (8) 

Gross profit %    17.8%   17.3%    19.1%   16.7%  
Selling, general & administrative expenses    2,126    2,098    1    5,601    5,580    —    

% of net sales    15.9%   12.4%    13.5%   10.9%  
Operating income from continuing operations    258    837    (70)   2,307    2,980    (23) 

% of net sales    1.9%   4.9%    5.6%   5.8%  
Other expense, net    7    151    (95)   5    168    (97) 
Income from continuing operations before income taxes    251    686    (63)   2,302    2,812    (18) 

% of net sales    1.9%   4.0%    5.5%   5.5%  
Income tax expense (benefit)    70    (1,206)   106    355    (940)   138  
Income from continuing operations    181    1,892    (90)   1,947    3,752    (48) 
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax    —      2    (100)   —      157    (100) 
Net income   $ 181   $ 1,894    (90)  $ 1,947   $ 3,909    (50) 

% of net sales    1.4%   11.2%    4.7%   7.6%  

The percentage decrease in contract manufacturing net sales was primarily attributed to the following for the periods ended March 31, 2011:
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Three Months

Ended   
Nine Months

Ended  
Mannatech, Incorporated    (8)   (16) 
NSA International, Inc.    (14)   (8) 
Other customers    1    5  
Total    (21)%   (19)% 

 

1 Net sales to Mannatech, Incorporated decreased primarily as a result of lower volumes of established products in existing markets.
 

2 The decrease in net sales to NSA International, Inc. (NSA) for the three months ended March 31, 2011 included a decrease in international sales of
47.6% and an increase in domestic sales of 1.2%. The decrease in net sales to NSA International, Inc. for the nine months ended March 31, 2011
included a decrease in international sales of 27.2% and a decline in domestic sales of 7.5%. These sales declines were due to lower demand by NSA’s
consumers, lower average sales prices, and NSA’s inventory management program.

 

3 The increase in net sales to other customers was primarily due to sales of new products for new and existing customers, and increased royalty income
related to the distribution of beta-alanine.

Net sales from our branded products segment decreased 20% from the comparable quarter in fiscal 2010 and 18% from the comparable nine month period last
year due primarily to the continuing impact of the cessation of the Dr. Cherry weekly television program in April 2007, which had served as the primary
acquisition vehicle in marketing the Pathway to Healing  product line.

Gross profit margin increased 0.5 percentage points from the comparable quarter in fiscal 2010 and increased 2.4 percentage points from the comparable nine
month period last year. The change in gross profit margin was primarily due to the following for the periods ended March 31, 2011:
 

   
Three Months

Ended   
Nine Months

Ended  
Branded products operations    0.0%   0.3% 
Contract manufacturing:    

Shift in sales and material mix    1.5    3.3  
Reduced overhead expenses    1.5    0.0  
Increased direct and indirect labor    (2.5)   (1.2) 

Total    0.5%   2.4% 

Selling, general and administrative expenses from continuing operations remained relatively flat in total during the three and nine month periods ended
March 31, 2011 as a reduction in employee compensation, auditing and consulting expenses were offset by increased litigation expenses as compared to the
prior year periods.

Other expense, net decreased $144,000 from the comparable quarter last year due primarily to lower foreign currency exchange losses associated with
changes in the Euro and the related impact on the translation of Euro denominated cash and receivables along with reduced interest expense. Other expense,
net decreased $163,000 from the comparable prior year nine month period due primarily to reduced interest expense and larger foreign currency exchange
gains associated with changes in the Euro and the related impact on the translation of Euro denominated cash and receivables, partially offset by reduced
other income.

During the third quarter of fiscal 2011, we recognized income tax expense from continuing operations of $70,000 compared to an income tax benefit of $1.2
million in the comparable quarter last year. The change in income taxes was primarily due to a tax benefit from a tax loss recognized as a result of the write-
off of our tax basis in RHL’s stock during the three months ended March 31, 2010. The tax expense from continuing operations for the third quarter of fiscal
2011 included expense from our foreign subsidiary at a statutory tax rate of 20% and state tax expense from our U.S.-based income from operations. No net
federal tax expense was recognized during the third quarter of fiscal 2011 for our U.S.-based income from operations as it was offset by a release of our net
deferred tax asset valuation allowance.

During the nine months ended March 31, 2011, we recognized income tax expense from continuing operations of $355,000 compared to an income tax
benefit of $940,000 during the nine months ended March 31, 2010. The change in income taxes is primarily due to a tax benefit from a tax loss recognized as
a result of the write-off of our tax basis in RHL’s stock during the nine months ended March 31, 2010. The tax expense from continuing operations for the
first nine months of fiscal 2011 included expense from our foreign subsidiary at a statutory tax rate of 20% and state tax expense from our U.S.-based income
from operations. No net federal tax expense was recognized during the first nine months of fiscal 2011 for our U.S.-based income from operations as it was
offset by a release of our net deferred tax asset valuation allowance.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our primary sources of liquidity and capital resources are cash flows provided by operating activities and the availability of borrowings under our credit
facility. Net cash provided by operating activities was $4.6 million for the nine months ended March 31, 2011 compared to net cash provided by operating
activities of $5.3 million in the comparable period in the prior year.

Income from continuing operations decreased to $1.9 million during the first nine months of fiscal 2011 as compared to income from continuing operations
of $3.8 million in the comparable period in the prior fiscal year. At March 31, 2011, changes in accounts receivable, consisting primarily of amounts due
from our private label contract manufacturing customers, provided $1.3 million in cash during the nine months ended March 31, 2011 compared to providing
$715,000 in the comparable period in the prior year. The increase in cash provided by accounts receivable during the nine months ended March 31, 2011 was
primarily the result of decreased days sales outstanding as compared to the comparable prior year period. Days sales outstanding was 26 days as of March 31,
2011 compared to 29 days as of March 31, 2010.

Approximately $555,000 of our operating cash flow was generated by NAIE in the nine months ended March 31, 2011. As of March 31, 2011, NAIE’s
undistributed retained earnings were considered indefinitely reinvested.

Capital expenditures were $1.3 million during the nine months ended March 31, 2011 compared to $2.0 million in the comparable period in the prior year.
Capital expenditures during the nine months ended March 31, 2011 and March 31, 2010 were primarily for manufacturing equipment in our Vista, California
and Manno, Switzerland facilities. Additionally, during the nine months ended March 31, 2010, we received $500,000 in proceeds related to the sale of the
remaining assets of the legacy RHL business. We also converted a certificate of deposit to cash in the amount of $699,000 during the nine months ended
March 31, 2010.

We did not have any consolidated debt as of either March 31, 2011 or June 30, 2010.

On December 16, 2010, we executed a new Credit Agreement (“Credit Agreement”) with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association. This Credit Agreement
replaced our previous credit facility and provides us with a line of credit of up to $5.0 million. The line of credit may be used to finance working capital
requirements. In consideration for granting the line of credit, we paid a commitment fee of $12,500 and must pay an additional commitment fee of $12,500
on or before December 1, 2011. There are no amounts currently drawn under the line of credit.

Under the terms of the Credit Agreement, borrowings are subject to eligibility requirements including maintaining (i) net income after taxes of not less than
$750,000 on a trailing four quarter basis as of the end of each calendar quarter beginning with the four quarter period ended December 31, 2010; and (ii) a
ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth of not greater than 1.25 to 1.0 at any time. Any amounts outstanding under the line of credit will bear interest at
a fixed or fluctuating interest rate as elected by NAI from time to time; provided, however, that if the outstanding principal amount is less than $100,000 such
amount shall bear interest at the then applicable fluctuating rate of interest. If elected, the fluctuating rate per annum would be equal to 2.75% above the
daily one month LIBOR rate as in effect from time to time. If a fixed rate is elected, it would equal a per annum rate of 2.50% above the LIBOR rate in effect
on the first day of the applicable fixed rate term. Any amounts outstanding under the line of credit must be paid in full on or before November 1, 2012;
provided, however, that we must maintain a zero balance on advances under the line of credit for a period of at least 30 consecutive days during each fiscal
year. Amounts outstanding that are subject to a fluctuating interest rate may be prepaid at any time without penalty. Amounts outstanding that are subject to
a fixed interest rate may be prepaid at any time in minimum amounts of $100,000, subject to a prepayment fee equal to the sum of the discounted monthly
differences for each month from the month of prepayment through the month in which the then applicable fixed rate term matures.

Our obligations under the Credit Agreement are secured by our accounts receivable and other rights to payment, general intangibles, inventory, equipment
and fixtures. We also have a foreign exchange facility with Wells Fargo in effect until November 1, 2012, and with Bank of America, N.A. in effect until
March 15, 2012.

On March 31, 2011, we were in compliance with all of the financial and other covenants required under the Credit Agreement.

On September 22, 2006, NAIE, our wholly owned subsidiary, entered into a credit facility to provide it with a credit line of up to CHF 1.3 million, or
approximately $1.4 million, which was the initial maximum aggregate amount that could be outstanding at any one time under the credit facility. This
maximum amount is reduced annually by CHF 160,000, or approximately $174,000. On February 19, 2007, NAIE amended its credit facility to provide that
the maximum aggregate amount that may be outstanding under the facility cannot be reduced below CHF 500,000, or approximately $543,000. As of
March 31, 2011, there was no outstanding balance under this credit facility.

Under its credit facility, NAIE may draw amounts either as current account loan credits to its current or future bank accounts or as fixed loans with a
maximum term of 24 months. Current account loans will bear interest at the rate of 5% per annum. Fixed loans will bear interest at a rate determined by the
parties based on current market conditions and must be repaid pursuant to a repayment schedule established by the parties at the time of the loan. If a fixed
loan is repaid early at NAIE’s election or in connection with the termination of the credit facility, NAIE will be charged a pre-payment penalty equal to 0.1%
of the principal amount of the fixed loan or CHF 1,000 (approximately $1,085), whichever is greater. The bank reserves the right to refuse individual requests
for an advance under the credit facility, although its exercise of such right will not have the effect of terminating the credit facility as a whole.
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As of March 31, 2011, we had $11.9 million in cash and cash equivalents and $5.0 million available under our working capital line of credit. We believe our
available cash, cash equivalents and potential cash flows from operations will be sufficient to fund our current working capital needs, capital expenditures
and debt payments through at least the next 12 months.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of March 31, 2011, we did not have any off-balance sheet debt nor did we have any transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent
obligations) or other relationships with any unconsolidated entities or other persons that have or are reasonably likely to have a material current or future
effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures, capital resources, or significant
components of revenue or expenses material to investors.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Recent accounting pronouncements are discussed in the notes to our consolidated financial statements included under Item 8 of our 2010 Annual Report.
Other than the pronouncements discussed in our 2010 Annual Report, we are not aware of any other pronouncements that materially affect our financial
position or results of operations.
 
ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
We maintain certain disclosure controls and procedures as defined under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. They are designed to help ensure that material
information is: (1) gathered and communicated to our management, including our principal executive and financial officers, in a manner that allows for
timely decisions regarding required disclosures; and (2) recorded, processed, summarized, reported and filed with the SEC as required under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and within the time periods specified by the SEC. Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of March 31, 2011. Based on such
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective for their intended
purpose described above as of March 31, 2011.

There were no changes to our internal control over financial reporting during the quarterly period ended March 31, 2011 that have materially affected, or that
are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II – OTHER INFORMATION
 
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
From time to time, we become involved in various investigations, claims and legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of our business. These
matters may relate to intellectual property, product liability, employment, tax, regulation, contract or other matters. The resolution of these matters as they
arise will be subject to various uncertainties and, even if such claims are without merit, could result in the expenditure of significant financial and managerial
resources. While unfavorable outcomes are possible, based on available information, we generally do not believe the resolution of these matters will result in
a material adverse effect on our business, consolidated financial condition, or results of operations. However, a settlement payment or unfavorable outcome
could adversely impact our results of operations. Our evaluation of the likely impact of these actions could change in the future and we could have
unfavorable outcomes that we do not expect.

As of May 16, 2011, except as described below, neither NAI nor its subsidiaries were a party to any material pending legal proceeding nor was any of their
property the subject of any material pending legal proceeding. On November 11, 2009, NAI filed a lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the District of
Delaware, accusing Vital Pharmaceutical, Inc. and DNP International Co., Inc. of infringing certain patents owned by NAI relating to the ingredient known as
beta-alanine marketed and sold under the CarnoSyn  trade name. NAI asserted claims for unfair competition and false marking, among others, against one or
both of the companies named in this lawsuit and is seeking an injunction against continued infringement and violations and damages for past infringement
and violations including, among others, punitive damages and attorneys’ fees. During the nine months ended March 31, 2011, NAI incurred litigation
expenses relating to this lawsuit of approximately $770,000. Unless otherwise settled, NAI expects its litigation expenses related to this lawsuit during the
remainder of fiscal 2011 to continue at a rate of approximately $400,000 to $500,000 per quarter. Although we believe this litigation is supported by valid
claims, there is no assurance NAI will prevail in these litigation proceedings or in similar proceedings it may initiate or that litigation expenses will be as
anticipated.
 
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
You should carefully consider the risks described under Item 1A of our 2010 Annual Report, as well as the other information in our 2010 Annual Report, this
report and other reports and documents we file with the SEC, when evaluating our business and future prospects. If any of the identified risks actually occur,
our business, financial condition and results of operations could be seriously harmed. In that event, the market price of our common stock could decline and
you could lose all or a portion of the value of your investment in our common stock.
 
ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
None.
 
ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
None.
 
ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
The following exhibit index shows those exhibits filed with this report and those incorporated by reference:

EXHIBIT INDEX
 
Exhibit
Number  Description   Incorporated By Reference To

  3(i)

 

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Natural
Alternatives International, Inc. filed with the Delaware Secretary of
State on January 14, 2005   

Exhibit 3(i) of NAI’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended December 31, 2004, filed with the commission on
February 14, 2005

  3(ii)
 

Amended and Restated By-laws of Natural Alternatives International,
Inc. dated as of February 9, 2009   

Exhibit 3(ii) of NAI’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 9,
2009, filed with the commission on February 13, 2009

  4(i)

 

Form of NAI’s Common Stock Certificate

  

Exhibit 4(i) of NAI’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2005, filed with the commission on September 8,
2005

10.1

 

1999 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan as adopted effective May 10,
1999, amended effective January 30, 2004, and further amended
effective December 3, 2004*   

Exhibit 10.1 of NAI’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended December 31, 2004, filed with the
commission on February 14, 2005

10.2

 

Amended and Restated Exclusive License Agreement effective as of
September 1, 2004 by and among NAI and Dr. Reginald B. Cherry

  

Exhibit 10.11 of NAI’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2004, filed with the commission on September
14, 2004

10.3

 

Exclusive License Agreement effective as of September 1, 2004 by and
among NAI and Reginald B. Cherry Ministries, Inc.

  

Exhibit 10.12 of NAI’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2004, filed with the commission on September
14, 2004

10.4

 

First Amendment to Exclusive License Agreement effective as of
December 10, 2004 by and among NAI and Reginald B. Cherry
Ministries, Inc.   

Exhibit 10.3 of NAI’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended December 31, 2004, filed with the
commission on February 14, 2005

10.5

 

Lease of Facilities in Vista, California between NAI and Calwest
Industrial Properties, LLC, a California limited liability company (lease
reference date June 12, 2003)   

Exhibit 10.10 of NAI’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended September 30, 2003, filed with the
commission on November 5, 2003

10.6

 

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between NAI and each
of its directors

  

Exhibit 10.15 of NAI’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2004, filed with the commission on September
14, 2004

10.7

 

Lease of Facilities in Manno, Switzerland between NAIE and Mr. Silvio
Tarchini dated May 9, 2005 (English translation)

  

Exhibit 10.19 of NAI’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended March 31, 2005, filed with the commission on
May 13, 2005

10.8

 

Lease of Facilities in Manno, Switzerland between NAIE and Mr. Silvio
Tarchini dated July 25, 2003 (English translation)

  

Exhibit 10.19 of NAI’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2005, filed with the commission on September 8,
2005

10.9

 

Lease of Facilities in Manno, Switzerland between NAIE and Mr. Silvio
Tarchini dated June 8, 2004 (English translation)

  

Exhibit 10.20 of NAI’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2005, filed with the commission on September 8,
2005

10.10

 

Lease of Facilities in Manno, Switzerland between NAIE and Mr. Silvio
Tarchini dated February 7, 2005 (English translation)

  

Exhibit 10.21 of NAI’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2005, filed with the commission on September 8,
2005
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Exhibit
Number   Description   Incorporated By Reference To

10.11

  

Amendment effective as of September 15, 2005 to Lease of Facilities in
Manno, Switzerland between NAIE and Mr. Silvio Tarchini dated
May 9, 2005 (English translation)   

Exhibit 10.24 of NAI’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended September 30, 2005, filed with the commission
on November 4, 2005

10.12

  

Loan Agreement between NAIE and Credit Suisse dated as of September
22, 2006, including general conditions (portions of the Loan Agreement
have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment)   

Exhibit 10.36 of NAI’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended September 30, 2006, filed with the commission
on November 1, 2006

10.13

  

First Amendment to Loan Agreement between NAIE and Credit Suisse
dated as of February 19, 2007

  

Exhibit 10.41 of NAI’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended March 31, 2007, filed with the commission on
May 14, 2007

10.14

  

Agreement to Sublicense by and between NAI and Compound
Solutions, Inc. dated as of March 3, 2009

  

Exhibit 10.44 of NAI’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended March 31, 2009, filed with the commission on
May 13, 2009

10.15
  

2009 Omnibus Incentive Plan*
  

Exhibit D of NAI’s definitive Proxy Statement filed with the
commission on October 16, 2009

10.16

  

Manufacturing Agreement by and between NSA, Inc. and NAI dated
April 1, 2005

  

Exhibit 10.43 of NAI’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended December 31, 2009, filed with the commission
on February 16, 2010.

10.17

  

Manufacturing Agreement by and between Mannatech, Inc. and NAI
dated April 22, 1998

  

Exhibit 10.44 of NAI’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended December 31, 2009, filed with the commission
on February 16, 2010.

10.18

  

First Amendment to Manufacturing Agreement by and between
Mannatech, Incorporated and NAI dated May 23, 2003

  

Exhibit 10.45 of NAI’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended December 31, 2009, filed with the commission
on February 16, 2010.

10.19

  

Second Amendment to Manufacturing Agreement by and between
Mannatech, Incorporated and NAI dated July 1, 2003

  

Exhibit 10.46 of NAI’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended December 31, 2009, filed with the commission
on February 16, 2010.

10.20

  

Third Amendment to Manufacturing Agreement by and between
Mannatech, Incorporated and NAI dated July 1, 2004

  

Exhibit 10.47 of NAI’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended December 31, 2009, filed with the commission
on February 16, 2010.

10.21

  

Fourth Amendment to Manufacturing Agreement by and among
Mannatech, Incorporated, Mannatech Swiss International GmbH and
NAI dated January 1, 2008   

Exhibit 10.48 of NAI’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended December 31, 2009, filed with the commission
on February 16, 2010.

10.22

  

Manufacturing Sales Agreement by and between Mannatech,
Incorporated and NAI dated November 19, 2004

  

Exhibit 10.49 of NAI’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended December 31, 2009, filed with the commission
on February 16, 2010.

10.23

  

Amendment to Manufacturing Sales Agreement by and among
Mannatech, Incorporated, Mannatech Swiss International GmbH and
NAI dated January 1, 2008   

Exhibit 10.50 of NAI’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended December 31, 2009, filed with the commission
on February 16, 2010.

10.24

  

Exclusive Manufacturing Agreement by and between NSA, Inc., NAI
and NAIE dated as of April 1, 2005.

  

Exhibit 10.51 of NAI’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended December 31, 2009, filed with the commission
on February 16, 2010.

10.25

  

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated as of August 31,
2010, by and between NAI and Mark A. LeDoux*

  

Exhibit 10.41 of NAI’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2010, filed with the commission on September 17,
2010.

10.26

  

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated as of August 31,
2010, by and between NAI and Kenneth E. Wolf.

  

Exhibit 10.42 of NAI’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2010, filed with the commission on September 17,
2010.
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Exhibit
Number   Description   Incorporated By Reference To

10.27

  

First Amendment to the Agreement to Sublicense by and between NAI
and Compound Solutions, Inc. dated as of October 18, 2010.

  

Exhibit 10.39 of NAI’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended September 30, 2010, filed with the commission
on November 12, 2010.

10.28

  

License and Fee Agreement effective November 10, 2010 by and among
Roger Harris, Mark Dunnett, Kenny Johansson and NAI.

  

Exhibit 10.40 of NAI’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended September 30, 2010 filed with the commission
on November 12, 2010.

10.29
  

Credit Agreement by and between NAI and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association effective as of December 1, 2010.   

Exhibit 10.1 of NAI’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 16,
2010, filed with the commission on December 22, 2010.

10.30

  

Revolving Line of Credit Note made by NAI for the benefit of Wells
Fargo Bank, National Association dated December 1, 2010 in the
amount of $5,000,000   

Exhibit 10.2 of NAI’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 16,
2010, filed with the commission on December 22, 2010

10.31

  

ISDA 2002 Master Agreement dated as of March 10, 2011 by and
between Bank of America N.A. and NAI (with Schedule dated March 10,
2011)   

Filed herewith

31.1   Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer   Filed herewith

31.2   Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer.   Filled herewith

32   Section 1350 Certification   Filed herewith
 

* Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Natural Alternatives International, Inc., the registrant, has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: May 16, 2011
 

NATURAL ALTERNATIVES INTERNATIONAL, INC.

By:  /s/ Kenneth E. Wolf
 Kenneth E. Wolf, Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Wolf is the principal financial officer of Natural Alternatives International, Inc. and has been duly authorized to sign on its behalf.
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Exhibit 10.31

ISDA

International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc.

2002 MASTER AGREEMENT

dated as of March 10, 2011
 
Bank of America, N.A.                          and  Natural Alternatives International, Inc.            

have entered and/or anticipate entering into one or more transactions (each a “Transaction”) that are or will be governed by this 2002 Master Agreement,
which includes the schedule (the “Schedule”), and the documents and other confirming evidence (each a “Confirmation”) exchanged between the parties or
otherwise effective for the purpose of confirming or evidencing those Transactions. This 2002 Master Agreement and the Schedule are together referred to as
this “Master Agreement”.

Accordingly, the parties agree as follows:—
 
1. Interpretation
(a) Definitions. The terms defined in Section 14 and elsewhere in this Master Agreement will have the meanings therein specified for the purpose of this
Master Agreement.

(b) Inconsistency. In the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of the Schedule and the other provisions of this Master Agreement, the Schedule
will prevail. In the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of any Confirmation and this Master Agreement, such Confirmation will prevail for the
purpose of the relevant Transaction.

(c) Single Agreement. All Transactions are entered into in reliance on the fact that this Master Agreement and all Confirmations form a single agreement
between the parties (collectively referred to as this “Agreement”), and the parties would not otherwise enter into any Transactions.
 
2. Obligations
(a) General Conditions.

(i) Each party will make each payment or delivery specified in each Confirmation to be made by it, subject to the other provisions of this Agreement.
(ii) Payments under this Agreement will be made on the due date for value on that date in the place of the account specified in the relevant
Confirmation or otherwise pursuant to this Agreement, in freely transferable funds and in the manner customary for payments in the required currency.
Where settlement is by delivery (that is, other than by payment), such delivery will be made for receipt on the due date in the manner customary for the
relevant obligation unless otherwise specified in the relevant Confirmation or elsewhere in this Agreement.

 



(iii) Each obligation of each party under Section 2(a)(i) is subject to (1) the condition precedent that no Event of Default or Potential Event of Default
with respect to the other party has occurred and is continuing, (2) the condition precedent that no Early Termination Date in respect of the relevant
Transaction has occurred or been effectively designated and (3) each other condition specified in this Agreement to be a condition precedent for the
purpose of this Section 2(a)(iii).

(b) Change of Account. Either party may change its account for receiving a payment or delivery by giving notice to the other party at least five Local
Business Days prior to the Scheduled Settlement Date for the payment or delivery to which such change applies unless such other party gives timely notice of
a reasonable objection to such change.

(c) Netting of Payments. If on any date amounts would otherwise be payable:—
(i) in the same currency; and
(ii) in respect of the same Transaction,

by each party to the other, then, on such date, each party’s obligation to make payment of any such amount will be automatically satisfied and discharged
and, if the aggregate amount that would otherwise have been payable by one party exceeds the aggregate amount that would otherwise have been payable by
the other party, replaced by an obligation upon the party by which the larger aggregate amount would have been payable to pay to the other party the excess
of the larger aggregate amount over the smaller aggregate amount.

The parties may elect in respect of two or more Transactions that a net amount and payment obligation will be determined in respect of all amounts payable
on the same date in the same currency in respect of those Transactions, regardless of whether such amounts are payable in respect of the same Transaction.
The election may be made in the Schedule or any Confirmation by specifying that “Multiple Transaction Payment Netting” applies to the Transactions
identified as being subject to the election (in which case clause (ii) above will not apply to such Transactions). If Multiple Transaction Payment Netting is
applicable to Transactions, it will apply to those Transactions with effect from the starting date specified in the Schedule or such Confirmation, or, if a
starting date is not specified in the Schedule or such Confirmation, the starting date otherwise agreed by the parties in writing. This election may be made
separately for different groups of Transactions and will apply separately to each pairing of Offices through which the parties make and receive payments or
deliveries.

(d) Deduction or Withholding for Tax.
(i) Gross-Up. All payments under this Agreement will be made without any deduction or withholding for or on account of any Tax unless such
deduction or withholding is required by any applicable law, as modified by the practice of any relevant governmental revenue authority, then in effect.
If a party is so required to deduct or withhold, then that party (“X”) will:—

(1) promptly notify the other party (“Y”) of such requirement;
(2) pay to the relevant authorities the full amount required to be deducted or withheld (including the full amount required to be deducted or
withheld from any additional amount paid by X to Y under this Section 2(d)) promptly upon the earlier of determining that such deduction or
withholding is required or receiving notice that such amount has been assessed against Y;
(3) promptly forward to Y an official receipt (or a certified copy), or other documentation reasonably acceptable to Y, evidencing such payment
to such authorities; and
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(4) if such Tax is an Indemnifiable Tax, pay to Y, in addition to the payment to which Y is otherwise entitled under this Agreement, such
additional amount as is necessary to ensure that the net amount actually received by Y (free and clear of Indemnifiable Taxes, whether assessed
against X or Y) will equal the full amount Y would have received had no such deduction or withholding been required. However, X will not be
required to pay any additional amount to Y to the extent that it would not be required to be paid but for:—

(A) the failure by Y to comply with or perform any agreement contained in Section 4(a)(i), 4(a)(iii) or 4(d); or
(B) the failure of a representation made by Y pursuant to Section 3(f) to be accurate and true unless such failure would not have occurred
but for (I) any action taken by a taxing authority, or brought in a court of competent jurisdiction, after a Transaction is entered into
(regardless of whether such action is taken or brought with respect to a party to this Agreement) or (II) a Change in Tax Law.

(ii) Liability. If:—
(1) X is required by any applicable law, as modified by the practice of any relevant governmental revenue authority, to make any deduction or
withholding in respect of which X would not be required to pay an additional amount to Y under Section 2(d)(i)(4);
(2) X does not so deduct or withhold; and
(3) a liability resulting from such Tax is assessed directly against X,

then, except to the extent Y has satisfied or then satisfies the liability resulting from such Tax, Y will promptly pay to X the amount of such liability
(including any related liability for interest, but including any related liability for penalties only if Y has failed to comply with or perform any
agreement contained in Section 4(a)(i), 4(a)(iii) or 4(d)).

 
3. Representations
Each party makes the representations contained in Sections 3(a), 3(b), 3(c), 3(d), 3(e) and 3(f) and, if specified in the Schedule as applying, 3(g) to the other
party (which representations will be deemed to be repeated by each party on each date on which a Transaction is entered into and, in the case of the
representations in Section 3(f), at all times until the termination of this Agreement). If any “Additional Representation” is specified in the Schedule or any
Confirmation as applying, the party or parties specified for such Additional Representation will make and, if applicable, be deemed to repeat such Additional
Representation at the time or times specified for such Additional Representation.

(a) Basic Representations.
(i) Status. It is duly organised and validly existing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organisation or incorporation and, if relevant under such
laws, in good standing;
(ii) Powers. It has the power to execute this Agreement and any other documentation relating to this Agreement to which it is a party, to deliver this
Agreement and any other documentation relating to this Agreement that it is required by this Agreement to deliver and to perform its obligations under
this Agreement and any obligations it has under any Credit Support Document to which it is a party and has taken all necessary action to authorise
such execution, delivery and performance;
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(iii) No Violation or Conflict. Such execution, delivery and performance do not violate or conflict with any law applicable to it, any provision of its
constitutional documents, any order or judgment of any court or other agency of government applicable to it or any of its assets or any contractual
restriction binding on or affecting it or any of its assets;
(iv) Consents. All governmental and other consents that are required to have been obtained by it with respect to this Agreement or any Credit Support
Document to which it is a party have been obtained and are in full force and effect and all conditions of any such consents have been complied with;
and
(v) Obligations Binding. Its obligations under this Agreement and any Credit Support Document to which it is a party constitute its legal, valid and
binding obligations, enforceable in accordance with their respective terms (subject to applicable bankruptcy, reorganisation, insolvency, moratorium
or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and subject, as to enforceability, to equitable principles of general application (regardless of
whether enforcement is sought in a proceeding in equity or at law)).

(b) Absence of Certain Events. No Event of Default or Potential Event of Default or, to its knowledge, Termination Event with respect to it has occurred and
is continuing and no such event or circumstance would occur as a result of its entering into or performing its obligations under this Agreement or any Credit
Support Document to which it is a party.

(c) Absence of Litigation. There is not pending or, to its knowledge, threatened against it, any of its Credit Support Providers or any of its applicable
Specified Entities any action, suit or proceeding at law or in equity or before any court, tribunal, governmental body, agency or official or any arbitrator that
is likely to affect the legality, validity or enforceability against it of this Agreement or any Credit Support Document to which it is a party or its ability to
perform its obligations under this Agreement or such Credit Support Document.

(d) Accuracy of Specified Information. All applicable information that is furnished in writing by or on behalf of it to the other party and is identified for the
purpose of this Section 3(d) in the Schedule is, as of the date of the information, true, accurate and complete in every material respect.

(e) Payer Tax Representation. Each representation specified in the Schedule as being made by it for the purpose of this Section 3(e) is accurate and true.

(f) Payee Tax Representations. Each representation specified in the Schedule as being made by it for the purpose of this Section 3(f) is accurate and true.

(g) No Agency. It is entering into this Agreement, including each Transaction, as principal and not as agent of any person or entity.
 
4. Agreements
Each party agrees with the other that, so long as either party has or may have any obligation under this Agreement or under any Credit Support Document to
which it is a party:—
 

(a) Furnish Specified Information. It will deliver to the other party or, in certain cases under clause (iii) below, to such government or taxing authority as
the other party reasonably directs:—
(i) any forms, documents or certificates relating to taxation specified in the Schedule or any Confirmation;
(ii) any other documents specified in the Schedule or any Confirmation; and
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(iii) upon reasonable demand by such other party, any form or document that may be required or reasonably requested in writing in order to allow such
other party or its Credit Support Provider to make a payment under this Agreement or any applicable Credit Support Document without any deduction
or withholding for or on account of any Tax or with such deduction or withholding at a reduced rate (so long as the completion, execution or
submission of such form or document would not materially prejudice the legal or commercial position of the party in receipt of such demand), with any
such form or document to be accurate and completed in a manner reasonably satisfactory to such other party and to be executed and to be delivered
with any reasonably required certification,

in each case by the date specified in the Schedule or such Confirmation or, if none is specified, as soon as reasonably practicable.

(b) Maintain Authorisations. It will use all reasonable efforts to maintain in full force and effect all consents of any governmental or other authority that are
required to be obtained by it with respect to this Agreement or any Credit Support Document to which it is a party and will use all reasonable efforts to obtain
any that may become necessary in the future.

(c) Comply With Laws. It will comply in all material respects with all applicable laws and orders to which it may be subject if failure so to comply would
materially impair its ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement or any Credit Support Document to which it is a party.

(d) Tax Agreement. It will give notice of any failure of a representation made by it under Section 3(f) to be accurate and true promptly upon learning of such
failure.

(e) Payment of Stamp Tax. Subject to Section 11, it will pay any Stamp Tax levied or imposed upon it or in respect of its execution or performance of this
Agreement by a jurisdiction in which it is incorporated, organised, managed and controlled or considered to have its seat, or where an Office through which it
is acting for the purpose of this Agreement is located (“Stamp Tax Jurisdiction”), and will indemnify the other party against any Stamp Tax levied or imposed
upon the other party or in respect of the other party’s execution or performance of this Agreement by any such Stamp Tax Jurisdiction which is not also a
Stamp Tax Jurisdiction with respect to the other party.
 
5. Events of Default and Termination Events
(a) Events of Default. The occurrence at any time with respect to a party or, if applicable, any Credit Support Provider of such party or any Specified Entity of
such party of any of the following events constitutes (subject to Sections 5(c) and 6(e)(iv)) an event of default (an “Event of Default”) with respect to such
party:—

(i) Failure to Pay or Deliver. Failure by the party to make, when due, any payment under this Agreement or delivery under Section 2(a)(i) or 9(h)(i)(2)
or (4) required to be made by it if such failure is not remedied on or before the first Local Business Day in the case of any such payment or the first
Local Delivery Day in the case of any such delivery after, in each case, notice of such failure is given to the party;

(ii) Breach of Agreement; Repudiation of Agreement.
(1) Failure by the party to comply with or perform any agreement or obligation (other than an obligation to make any payment under this
Agreement or delivery under Section 2(a)(i) or 9(h)(i)(2) or (4) or to give notice of a Termination Event or any agreement or obligation under
Section 4(a)(i), 4(a)(iii) or 4(d)) to be complied with or performed by the party in accordance with this Agreement if such failure is not remedied
within 30 days after notice of such failure is given to the party; or
(2) the party disaffirms, disclaims, repudiates or rejects, in whole or in part, or challenges the validity of, this Master Agreement, any
Confirmation executed and delivered by that party or any
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Transaction evidenced by such a Confirmation (or such action is taken by any person or entity appointed or empowered to operate it or act on its
behalf);

(iii) Credit Support Default.
(1) Failure by the party or any Credit Support Provider of such party to comply with or perform any agreement or obligation to be complied with
or performed by it in accordance with any Credit Support Document if such failure is continuing after any applicable grace period has elapsed;
(2) the expiration or termination of such Credit Support Document or the failing or ceasing of such Credit Support Document, or any security
interest granted by such party or such Credit Support Provider to the other party pursuant to any such Credit Support Document, to be in full
force and effect for the purpose of this Agreement (in each case other than in accordance with its terms) prior to the satisfaction of all obligations
of such party under each Transaction to which such Credit Support Document relates without the written consent of the other party; or
(3) the party or such Credit Support Provider disaffirms, disclaims, repudiates or rejects, in whole or in part, or challenges the validity of, such
Credit Support Document (or such action is taken by any person or entity appointed or empowered to operate it or act on its behalf);
(iv) Misrepresentation. A representation (other than a representation under Section 3(e) or 3(f)) made or repeated or deemed to have been made
or repeated by the party or any Credit Support Provider of such party in this Agreement or any Credit Support Document proves to have been
incorrect or misleading in any material respect when made or repeated or deemed to have been made or repeated;

(v) Default Under Specified Transaction. The party, any Credit Support Provider of such party or any applicable Specified Entity of such party:—
(1) defaults (other than by failing to make a delivery) under a Specified Transaction or any credit support arrangement relating to a Specified
Transaction and, after giving effect to any applicable notice requirement or grace period, such default results in a liquidation of, an acceleration
of obligations under, or an early termination of, that Specified Transaction;
(2) defaults, after giving effect to any applicable notice requirement or grace period, in making any payment due on the last payment or
exchange date of, or any payment on early termination of, a Specified Transaction (or, if there is no applicable notice requirement or grace
period, such default continues for at least one Local Business Day);
(3) defaults in making any delivery due under (including any delivery due on the last delivery or exchange date of) a Specified Transaction or
any credit support arrangement relating to a Specified Transaction and, after giving effect to any applicable notice requirement or grace period,
such default results in a liquidation of, an acceleration of obligations under, or an early termination of, all transactions outstanding under the
documentation applicable to that Specified Transaction; or
(4) disaffirms, disclaims, repudiates or rejects, in whole or in part, or challenges the validity of, a Specified Transaction or any credit support
arrangement relating to a Specified Transaction that is, in either case, confirmed or evidenced by a document or other confirming evidence
executed and delivered by that party, Credit Support Provider or Specified Entity (or such action is taken by any person or entity appointed or
empowered to operate it or act on its behalf);
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(vi) Cross-Default. If “Cross-Default” is specified in the Schedule as applying to the party, the occurrence or existence of:—
(1) a default, event of default or other similar condition or event (however described) in respect of such party, any Credit Support Provider of
such party or any applicable Specified Entity of such party under one or more agreements or instruments relating to Specified Indebtedness of
any of them (individually or collectively) where the aggregate principal amount of such agreements or instruments, either alone or together with
the amount, if any, referred to in clause (2) below, is not less than the applicable Threshold Amount (as specified in the Schedule) which has
resulted in such Specified Indebtedness becoming, or becoming capable at such time of being declared, due and payable under such agreements
or instruments before it would otherwise have been due and payable; or
(2) a default by such party, such Credit Support Provider or such Specified Entity (individually or collectively) in making one or more payments
under such agreements or instruments on the due date for payment (after giving effect to any applicable notice requirement or grace period) in an
aggregate amount, either alone or together with the amount, if any, referred to in clause (1) above, of not less than the applicable Threshold
Amount;

(vii) Bankruptcy. The party, any Credit Support Provider of such party or any applicable Specified Entity of such party:—
(1) is dissolved (other than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamation or merger); (2) becomes insolvent or is unable to pay its debts or fails or
admits in writing its inability generally to pay its debts as they become due; (3) makes a general assignment, arrangement or composition with or
for the benefit of its creditors; (4)(A) institutes or has instituted against it, by a regulator, supervisor or any similar official with primary
insolvency, rehabilitative or regulatory jurisdiction over it in the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organisation or the jurisdiction of its head or
home office, a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other
similar law affecting creditors’ rights, or a petition is presented for its winding-up or liquidation by it or such regulator, supervisor or similar
official, or (B) has instituted against it a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other relief under any bankruptcy or
insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditors’ rights, or a petition is presented for its winding-up or liquidation, and such proceeding or
petition is instituted or presented by a person or entity not described in clause (A) above and either (I) results in a judgment of insolvency or
bankruptcy or the entry of an order for relief or the making of an order for its winding-up or liquidation or (II) is not dismissed, discharged, stayed
or restrained in each case within 15 days of the institution or presentation thereof; (5) has a resolution passed for its winding-up, official
management or liquidation (other than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamation or merger); (6) seeks or becomes subject to the appointment of
an administrator, provisional liquidator, conservator, receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official for it or for all or substantially all its
assets; (7) has a secured party take possession of all or substantially all its assets or has a distress, execution, attachment, sequestration or other
legal process levied, enforced or sued on or against all or substantially all its assets and such secured party maintains possession, or any such
process is not dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrained, in each case within 15 days thereafter; (8) causes or is subject to any event with respect
to it which, under the applicable laws of any jurisdiction, has an analogous effect to any of the events specified in clauses (1) to (7) above
(inclusive); or (9) takes any action in furtherance of, or indicating its consent to, approval of, or acquiescence in, any of the foregoing acts; or
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(viii) Merger Without Assumption. The party or any Credit Support Provider of such party consolidates or amalgamates with, or merges with or into, or
transfers all or substantially all its assets to, or reorganises, reincorporates or reconstitutes into or as, another entity and, at the time of such
consolidation, amalgamation, merger, transfer, reorganisation, reincorporation or reconstitution:—

(1) the resulting, surviving or transferee entity fails to assume all the obligations of such party or such Credit Support Provider under this
Agreement or any Credit Support Document to which it or its predecessor was a party; or

(2) the benefits of any Credit Support Document fail to extend (without the consent of the other party) to the performance by such resulting,
surviving or transferee entity of its obligations under this Agreement.

(b) Termination Events. The occurrence at any time with respect to a party or, if applicable, any Credit Support Provider of such party or any Specified Entity
of such party of any event specified below constitutes (subject to Section 5(c)) an Illegality if the event is specified in clause (i) below, a Force Majeure Event
if the event is specified in clause (ii) below, a Tax Event if the event is specified in clause (iii) below, a Tax Event Upon Merger if the event is specified in
clause (iv) below, and, if specified to be applicable, a Credit Event Upon Merger if the event is specified pursuant to clause (v) below or an Additional
Termination Event if the event is specified pursuant to clause (vi) below:—

(i) Illegality. After giving effect to any applicable provision, disruption fallback or remedy specified in, or pursuant to, the relevant Confirmation or
elsewhere in this Agreement, due to an event or circumstance (other than any action taken by a party or, if applicable, any Credit Support Provider of
such party) occurring after a Transaction is entered into, it becomes unlawful under any applicable law (including without limitation the laws of any
country in which payment, delivery or compliance is required by either party or any Credit Support Provider, as the case may be), on any day, or it
would be unlawful if the relevant payment, delivery or compliance were required on that day (in each case, other than as a result of a breach by the
party of Section 4(b)):—

(1) for the Office through which such party (which will be the Affected Party) makes and receives payments or deliveries with respect to such
Transaction to perform any absolute or contingent obligation to make a payment or delivery in respect of such Transaction, to receive a payment
or delivery in respect of such Transaction or to comply with any other material provision of this Agreement relating to such Transaction; or
(2) for such party or any Credit Support Provider of such party (which will be the Affected Party) to perform any absolute or contingent
obligation to make a payment or delivery which such party or Credit Support Provider has under any Credit Support Document relating to such
Transaction, to receive a payment or delivery under such Credit Support Document or to comply with any other material provision of such Credit
Support Document;

(ii) Force Majeure Event. After giving effect to any applicable provision, disruption fallback or remedy specified in, or pursuant to, the relevant
Confirmation or elsewhere in this Agreement, by reason of force majeure or act of state occurring after a Transaction is entered into, on any day:—

(1) the Office through which such party (which will be the Affected Party) makes and receives payments or deliveries with respect to such
Transaction is prevented from performing any absolute or contingent obligation to make a payment or delivery in respect of such Transaction,
from receiving a payment or delivery in respect of such Transaction or from complying with any other material provision of this Agreement
relating to such Transaction (or would be so prevented if such payment, delivery or compliance were required on that day), or it becomes
impossible or

 
8



impracticable for such Office so to perform, receive or comply (or it would be impossible or impracticable for such Office so to perform, receive
or comply if such payment, delivery or compliance were required on that day); or
(2) such party or any Credit Support Provider of such party (which will be the Affected Party) is prevented from performing any absolute or
contingent obligation to make a payment or delivery which such party or Credit Support Provider has under any Credit Support Document
relating to such Transaction, from receiving a payment or delivery under such Credit Support Document or from complying with any other
material provision of such Credit Support Document (or would be so prevented if such payment, delivery or compliance were required on that
day), or it becomes impossible or impracticable for such party or Credit Support Provider so to perform, receive or comply (or it would be
impossible or impracticable for such party or Credit Support Provider so to perform, receive or comply if such payment, delivery or compliance
were required on that day),

so long as the force majeure or act of state is beyond the control of such Office, such party or such Credit Support Provider, as appropriate, and such
Office, party or Credit Support Provider could not, after using all reasonable efforts (which will not require such party or Credit Support Provider to
incur a loss, other than immaterial, incidental expenses), overcome such prevention, impossibility or impracticability;
(iii) Tax Event. Due to (1) any action taken by a taxing authority, or brought in a court of competent jurisdiction, after a Transaction is entered into
(regardless of whether such action is taken or brought with respect to a party to this Agreement) or (2) a Change in Tax Law, the party (which will be
the Affected Party) will, or there is a substantial likelihood that it will, on the next succeeding Scheduled Settlement Date (A) be required to pay to the
other party an additional amount in respect of an Indemnifiable Tax under Section 2(d)(i)(4) (except in respect of interest under Section 9(h)) or
(B) receive a payment from which an amount is required to be deducted or withheld for or on account of a Tax (except in respect of interest under
Section 9(h)) and no additional amount is required to be paid in respect of such Tax under Section 2(d)(i)(4) (other than by reason of Section 2(d)(i)(4)
(A) or (B));
(iv) Tax Event Upon Merger. The party (the “Burdened Party”) on the next succeeding Scheduled Settlement Date will either (1) be required to pay an
additional amount in respect of an Indemnifiable Tax under Section 2(d)(i)(4) (except in respect of interest under Section 9(h)) or (2) receive a payment
from which an amount has been deducted or withheld for or on account of any Tax in respect of which the other party is not required to pay an
additional amount (other than by reason of Section 2(d)(i)(4)(A) or (B)), in either case as a result of a party consolidating or amalgamating with, or
merging with or into, or transferring all or substantially all its assets (or any substantial part of the assets comprising the business conducted by it as of
the date of this Master Agreement) to, or reorganising, reincorporating or reconstituting into or as, another entity (which will be the Affected Party)
where such action does not constitute a Merger Without Assumption;
(v) Credit Event Upon Merger. If “Credit Event Upon Merger” is specified in the Schedule as applying to the party, a Designated Event (as defined
below) occurs with respect to such party, any Credit Support Provider of such party or any applicable Specified Entity of such party (in each case, “X”)
and such Designated Event does not constitute a Merger Without Assumption, and the creditworthiness of X or, if applicable, the successor, surviving
or transferee entity of X, after taking into account any applicable Credit Support Document, is materially weaker immediately after the occurrence of
such Designated Event than that of X immediately prior to the occurrence of such Designated Event (and, in any such event, such party or its successor,
surviving or transferee entity, as appropriate, will be the Affected Party). A “Designated Event” with respect to X means that:—

(1) X consolidates or amalgamates with, or merges with or into, or transfers all or substantially all its assets (or any substantial part of the assets
comprising the business conducted by X as of the
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date of this Master Agreement) to, or reorganises, reincorporates or reconstitutes into or as, another entity;
(2) any person, related group of persons or entity acquires directly or indirectly the beneficial ownership of (A) equity securities having the
power to elect a majority of the board of directors (or its equivalent) of X or (B) any other ownership interest enabling it to exercise control of X;
or
(3) X effects any substantial change in its capital structure by means of the issuance, incurrence or guarantee of debt or the issuance of
(A) preferred stock or other securities convertible into or exchangeable for debt or preferred stock or (B) in the case of entities other than
corporations, any other form of ownership interest; or

(vi) Additional Termination Event. If any “Additional Termination Event” is specified in the Schedule or any Confirmation as applying, the
occurrence of such event (and, in such event, the Affected Party or Affected Parties will be as specified for such Additional Termination Event in the
Schedule or such Confirmation).

(c) Hierarchy of Events.
(i) An event or circumstance that constitutes or gives rise to an Illegality or a Force Majeure Event will not, for so long as that is the case, also
constitute or give rise to an Event of Default under Section 5(a)(i), 5(a)(ii)(1) or 5(a)(iii)(1) insofar as such event or circumstance relates to the failure to
make any payment or delivery or a failure to comply with any other material provision of this Agreement or a Credit Support Document, as the case
may be.
(ii) Except in circumstances contemplated by clause (i) above, if an event or circumstance which would otherwise constitute or give rise to an Illegality
or a Force Majeure Event also constitutes an Event of Default or any other Termination Event, it will be treated as an Event of Default or such other
Termination Event, as the case may be, and will not constitute or give rise to an Illegality or a Force Majeure Event.
(iii) If an event or circumstance which would otherwise constitute or give rise to a Force Majeure Event also constitutes an Illegality, it will be treated
as an Illegality, except as described in clause (ii) above, and not a Force Majeure Event.

(d) Deferral of Payments and Deliveries During Waiting Period. If an Illegality or a Force Majeure Event has occurred and is continuing with respect to a
Transaction, each payment or delivery which would otherwise be required to be made under that Transaction will be deferred to, and will not be due until:—

(i) the first Local Business Day or, in the case of a delivery, the first Local Delivery Day (or the first day that would have been a Local Business Day or
Local Delivery Day, as appropriate, but for the occurrence of the event or circumstance constituting or giving rise to that Illegality or Force Majeure
Event) following the end of any applicable Waiting Period in respect of that Illegality or Force Majeure Event, as the case may be; or
(ii) if earlier, the date on which the event or circumstance constituting or giving rise to that Illegality or Force Majeure Event ceases to exist or, if such
date is not a Local Business Day or, in the case of a delivery, a Local Delivery Day, the first following day that is a Local Business Day or Local
Delivery Day, as appropriate.

(e) Inability of Head or Home Office to Perform Obligations of Branch. If (i) an Illegality or a Force Majeure Event occurs under Section 5(b)(i)(1) or 5(b)(ii)
(1) and the relevant Office is not the Affected Party’s head or home office, (ii) Section 10(a) applies, (iii) the other party seeks performance of the relevant
obligation or
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compliance with the relevant provision by the Affected Party’s head or home office and (iv) the Affected Party’s head or home office fails so to perform or
comply due to the occurrence of an event or circumstance which would, if that head or home office were the Office through which the Affected Party makes
and receives payments and deliveries with respect to the relevant Transaction, constitute or give rise to an Illegality or a Force Majeure Event, and such
failure would otherwise constitute an Event of Default under Section 5(a)(i)or 5(a)(iii)(1) with respect to such party, then, for so long as the relevant event or
circumstance continues to exist with respect to both the Office referred to in Section 5(b)(i)(1) or 5(b)(ii)(1), as the case may be, and the Affected Party’s head
or home office, such failure will not constitute an Event of Default under Section 5(a)(i) or 5(a)(iii)(1).
 
6. Early Termination; Close-Out Netting
(a) Right to Terminate Following Event of Default. If at any time an Event of Default with respect to a party (the “Defaulting Party”) has occurred and is then
continuing, the other party (the “Non-defaulting Party”) may, by not more than 20 days notice to the Defaulting Party specifying the relevant Event of
Default, designate a day not earlier than the day such notice is effective as an Early Termination Date in respect of all outstanding Transactions. If, however,
“Automatic Early Termination” is specified in the Schedule as applying to a party, then an Early Termination Date in respect of all outstanding Transactions
will occur immediately upon the occurrence with respect to such party of an Event of Default specified in Section 5(a)(vii)(1), (3), (5), (6) or, to the extent
analogous thereto, (8), and as of the time immediately preceding the institution of the relevant proceeding or the presentation of the relevant petition upon
the occurrence with respect to such party of an Event of Default specified in Section 5(a)(vii)(4) or, to the extent analogous thereto, (8).

(b) Right to Terminate Following Termination Event.
(i) Notice. If a Termination Event other than a Force Majeure Event occurs, an Affected Party will, promptly upon becoming aware of it, notify the other
party, specifying the nature of that Termination Event and each Affected Transaction, and will also give the other party such other information about
that Termination Event as the other party may reasonably require. If a Force Majeure Event occurs, each party will, promptly upon becoming aware of
it, use all reasonable efforts to notify the other party, specifying the nature of that Force Majeure Event, and will also give the other party such other
information about that Force Majeure Event as the other party may reasonably require.
(ii) Transfer to Avoid Termination Event. If a Tax Event occurs and there is only one Affected Party, or if a Tax Event Upon Merger occurs and the
Burdened Party is the Affected Party, the Affected Party will, as a condition to its right to designate an Early Termination Date under Section 6(b)(iv),
use all reasonable efforts (which will not require such party to incur a loss, other than immaterial, incidental expenses) to transfer within 20 days after it
gives notice under Section 6(b)(i) all its rights and obligations under this Agreement in respect of the Affected Transactions to another of its Offices or
Affiliates so that such Termination Event ceases to exist.
If the Affected Party is not able to make such a transfer it will give notice to the other party to that effect within such 20 day period, whereupon the
other party may effect such a transfer within 30 days after the notice is given under Section 6(b)(i).
Any such transfer by a party under this Section 6(b)(ii) will be subject to and conditional upon the prior written consent of the other party, which
consent will not be withheld if such other party’s policies in effect at such time would permit it to enter into transactions with the transferee on the
terms proposed.
(iii) Two Affected Parties. If a Tax Event occurs and there are two Affected Parties, each party will use all reasonable efforts to reach agreement within
30 days after notice of such occurrence is given under Section 6(b)(i) to avoid that Termination Event.
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(iv) Right to Terminate.
(1) If:—

(A) a transfer under Section 6(b)(ii) or an agreement under Section 6(b)(iii), as the case may be, has not been effected with respect to all
Affected Transactions within 30 days after an Affected Party gives notice under Section 6(b)(i); or
(B) a Credit Event Upon Merger or an Additional Termination Event occurs, or a Tax Event Upon Merger occurs and the Burdened Party
is not the Affected Party,

the Burdened Party in the case of a Tax Event Upon Merger, any Affected Party in the case of a Tax Event or an Additional Termination Event if
there are two Affected Parties, or the Non-affected Party in the case of a Credit Event Upon Merger or an Additional Termination Event if there is
only one Affected Party may, if the relevant Termination Event is then continuing, by not more than 20 days notice to the other party, designate
a day not earlier than the day such notice is effective as an Early Termination Date in respect of all Affected Transactions.
(2) If at any time an Illegality or a Force Majeure Event has occurred and is then continuing and any applicable Waiting Period has expired:—

(A) Subject to clause (B) below, either party may, by not more than 20 days notice to the other party, designate (I) a day not earlier than
the day on which such notice becomes effective as an Early Termination Date in respect of all Affected Transactions or (II) by specifying
in that notice the Affected Transactions in respect of which it is designating the relevant day as an Early Termination Date, a day not
earlier than two Local Business Days following the day on which such notice becomes effective as an Early Termination Date in respect
of less than all Affected Transactions. Upon receipt of a notice designating an Early Termination Date in respect of less than all Affected
Transactions, the other party may, by notice to the designating party, if such notice is effective on or before the day so designated,
designate that same day as an Early Termination Date in respect of any or all other Affected Transactions.
(B) An Affected Party (if the Illegality or Force Majeure Event relates to performance by such party or any Credit Support Provider of
such party of an obligation to make any payment or delivery under, or to compliance with any other material provision of, the relevant
Credit Support Document) will only have the right to designate an Early Termination Date under Section 6(b)(iv)(2)(A) as a result of an
Illegality under Section 5(b)(i)(2) or a Force Majeure Event under Section 5(b)(ii)(2) following the prior designation by the other party of
an Early Termination Date, pursuant to Section 6(b)(iv)(2)(A), in respect of less than all Affected Transactions.

(c) Effect of Designation.
(i) If notice designating an Early Termination Date is given under Section 6(a) or 6(b), the Early Termination Date will occur on the date so designated,
whether or not the relevant Event of Default or Termination Event is then continuing.
(ii) Upon the occurrence or effective designation of an Early Termination Date, no further payments or deliveries under Section 2(a)(i) or 9(h)(i) in
respect of the Terminated Transactions will be required to be made, but without prejudice to the other provisions of this Agreement. The amount, if
any, payable in respect of an Early Termination Date will be determined pursuant to Sections 6(e) and 9(h)(ii).
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(d) Calculations; Payment Date.
(i) Statement. On or as soon as reasonably practicable following the occurrence of an Early Termination Date, each party will make the calculations on
its part, if any, contemplated by Section 6(e) and will provide to the other party a statement (1) showing, in reasonable detail, such calculations
(including any quotations, market data or information from internal sources used in making such calculations), (2) specifying (except where there are
two Affected Parties) any Early Termination Amount payable and (3) giving details of the relevant account to which any amount payable to it is to be
paid. In the absence of written confirmation from the source of a quotation or market data obtained in determining a Close-out Amount, the records of
the party obtaining such quotation or market data will be conclusive evidence of the existence and accuracy of such quotation or market data.
(ii) Payment Date. An Early Termination Amount due in respect of any Early Termination Date will, together with any amount of interest payable
pursuant to Section 9(h)(ii)(2), be payable (1) on the day on which notice of the amount payable is effective in the case of an Early Termination Date
which is designated or occurs as a result of an Event of Default and (2) on the day which is two Local Business Days after the day on which notice of
the amount payable is effective (or, if there are two Affected Parties, after the day on which the statement provided pursuant to clause (i) above by the
second party to provide such a statement is effective) in the case of an Early Termination Date which is designated as a result of a Termination Event.

(e) Payments on Early Termination. If an Early Termination Date occurs, the amount, if any, payable in respect of that Early Termination Date (the “Early
Termination Amount”) will be determined pursuant to this Section 6(e) and will be subject to
Section 6(f).

(i) Events of Default. If the Early Termination Date results from an Event of Default, the Early Termination Amount will be an amount equal to (1) the
sum of (A) the Termination Currency Equivalent of the Close-out Amount or Close-out Amounts (whether positive or negative) determined by the
Non-defaulting Party for each Terminated Transaction or group of Terminated Transactions, as the case may be, and (B) the Termination Currency
Equivalent of the Unpaid Amounts owing to the Non-defaulting Party less (2) the Termination Currency Equivalent of the Unpaid Amounts owing to
the Defaulting Party. If the Early Termination Amount is a positive number, the Defaulting Party will pay it to the Non-defaulting Party; if it is a
negative number, the Non-defaulting Party will pay the absolute value of the Early Termination Amount to the Defaulting Party.

(ii) Termination Events. If the Early Termination Date results from a Termination Event:—
(1) One Affected Party. Subject to clause (3) below, if there is one Affected Party, the Early Termination Amount will be determined in
accordance with Section 6(e)(i), except that references to the Defaulting Party and to the Non-defaulting Party will be deemed to be references to
the Affected Party and to the Non-affected Party, respectively.
(2) Two Affected Parties. Subject to clause (3) below, if there are two Affected Parties, each party will determine an amount equal to the
Termination Currency Equivalent of the sum of the Close-out Amount or Close-out Amounts (whether positive or negative) for each Terminated
Transaction or group of Terminated Transactions, as the case may be, and the Early Termination Amount will be an amount equal to (A) the sum
of (I) one-half of the difference between the higher amount so determined (by party “X”) and the lower amount so determined (by party “Y”) and
(II) the Termination Currency Equivalent of the Unpaid Amounts owing to X less (B) the Termination Currency Equivalent of the Unpaid
Amounts owing to Y. If the Early Termination Amount is a positive number, Y will pay it to X; if it is a negative number, X will pay the absolute
value of the Early Termination Amount to Y.
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(3) Mid-Market Events. If that Termination Event is an Illegality or a Force Majeure Event, then the Early Termination Amount will be
determined in accordance with clause (1) or (2) above, as appropriate, except that, for the purpose of determining a Close-out Amount or Close-
out Amounts, the Determining Party will:—

(A) if obtaining quotations from one or more third parties (or from any of the Determining Party’s Affiliates), ask each third party or
Affiliate (I) not to take account of the current creditworthiness of the Determining Party or any existing Credit Support Document and (II)
to provide mid-market quotations; and
(B) in any other case, use mid-market values without regard to the creditworthiness of the Determining Party.

(iii) Adjustment for Bankruptcy. In circumstances where an Early Termination Date occurs because Automatic Early Termination applies in respect of a
party, the Early Termination Amount will be subject to such adjustments as are appropriate and permitted by applicable law to reflect any payments or
deliveries made by one party to the other under this Agreement (and retained by such other party) during the period from the relevant Early
Termination Date to the date for payment determined under Section 6(d)(ii).
(iv) Adjustment for Illegality or Force Majeure Event. The failure by a party or any Credit Support Provider of such party to pay, when due, any Early
Termination Amount will not constitute an Event of Default under Section 5(a)(i) or 5(a)(iii)(1) if such failure is due to the occurrence of an event or
circumstance which would, if it occurred with respect to payment, delivery or compliance related to a Transaction, constitute or give rise to an
Illegality or a Force Majeure Event. Such amount will (1) accrue interest and otherwise be treated as an Unpaid Amount owing to the other party if
subsequently an Early Termination Date results from an Event of Default, a Credit Event Upon Merger or an Additional Termination Event in respect
of which all outstanding Transactions are Affected Transactions and (2) otherwise accrue interest in accordance with Section 9(h)(ii)(2).
(v) Pre-Estimate. The parties agree that an amount recoverable under this Section 6(e) is a reasonable pre-estimate of loss and not a penalty. Such
amount is payable for the loss of bargain and the loss of protection against future risks, and, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, neither
party will be entitled to recover any additional damages as a consequence of the termination of the Terminated Transactions.

(f) Set-Off. Any Early Termination Amount payable to one party (the “Payee”) by the other party (the “Payer”), in circumstances where there is a Defaulting
Party or where there is one Affected Party in the case where either a Credit Event Upon Merger has occurred or any other Termination Event in respect of
which all outstanding Transactions are Affected Transactions has occurred, will, at the option of the Non-defaulting Party or the Non-affected Party, as the
case may be (“X”) (and without prior notice to the Defaulting Party or the Affected Party, as the case may be), be reduced by its set-off against any other
amounts (“Other Amounts”) payable by the Payee to the Payer (whether or not arising under this Agreement, matured or contingent and irrespective of the
currency, place of payment or place of booking of the obligation). To the extent that any Other Amounts are so set off, those Other Amounts will be
discharged promptly and in all respects. X will give notice to the other party of any set-off effected under this Section 6(f).

For this purpose, either the Early Termination Amount or the Other Amounts (or the relevant portion of such amounts) may be converted by X into the
currency in which the other is denominated at the rate of exchange at which such party would be able, in good faith and using commercially reasonable
procedures, to purchase the relevant amount of such currency.
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If an obligation is unascertained, X may in good faith estimate that obligation and set off in respect of the estimate, subject to the relevant party accounting
to the other when the obligation is ascertained.

Nothing in this Section 6(f) will be effective to create a charge or other security interest. This Section 6(f) will be without prejudice and in addition to any
right of set-off, offset, combination of accounts, lien, right of retention or withholding or similar right or requirement to which any party is at any time
otherwise entitled or subject (whether by operation of law, contract or otherwise).
 
7. Transfer
Subject to Section 6(b)(ii) and to the extent permitted by applicable law, neither this Agreement nor any interest or obligation in or under this Agreement
may be transferred (whether by way of security or otherwise) by either party without the prior written consent of the other party, except that:—

(a) a party may make such a transfer of this Agreement pursuant to a consolidation or amalgamation with, or merger with or into, or transfer of all or
substantially all its assets to, another entity (but without prejudice to any other right or remedy under this Agreement); and

(b) a party may make such a transfer of all or any part of its interest in any Early Termination Amount payable to it by a Defaulting Party, together with any
amounts payable on or with respect to that interest and any other rights associated with that interest pursuant to Sections 8, 9(h) and 11.

Any purported transfer that is not in compliance with this Section 7 will be void.
 
8. Contractual Currency
(a) Payment in the Contractual Currency. Each payment under this Agreement will be made in the relevant currency specified in this Agreement for that
payment (the “Contractual Currency”). To the extent permitted by applicable law, any obligation to make payments under this Agreement in the Contractual
Currency will not be discharged or satisfied by any tender in any currency other than the Contractual Currency, except to the extent such tender results in the
actual receipt by the party to which payment is owed, acting in good faith and using commercially reasonable procedures in converting the currency so
tendered into the Contractual Currency, of the full amount in the Contractual Currency of all amounts payable in respect of this Agreement. If for any reason
the amount in the Contractual Currency so received falls short of the amount in the Contractual Currency payable in respect of this Agreement, the party
required to make the payment will, to the extent permitted by applicable law, immediately pay such additional amount in the Contractual Currency as may
be necessary to compensate for the shortfall. If for any reason the amount in the Contractual Currency so received exceeds the amount in the Contractual
Currency payable in respect of this Agreement, the party receiving the payment will refund promptly the amount of such excess.

(b) Judgments. To the extent permitted by applicable law, if any judgment or order expressed in a currency other than the Contractual Currency is rendered
(i) for the payment of any amount owing in respect of this Agreement, (ii) for the payment of any amount relating to any early termination in respect of this
Agreement or (iii) in respect of a judgment or order of another court for the payment of any amount described in clause (i) or (ii) above, the party seeking
recovery, after recovery in full of the aggregate amount to which such party is entitled pursuant to the judgment or order, will be entitled to receive
immediately from the other party the amount of any shortfall of the Contractual Currency received by such party as a consequence of sums paid in such other
currency and will refund promptly to the other party any excess of the Contractual Currency received by such party as a consequence of sums paid in such
other currency if such shortfall or such excess arises or results from any variation between the rate of exchange at which the Contractual Currency is
converted into the currency of the judgment or order for the purpose of such judgment or order and the rate of exchange at which such party is able, acting in
good faith and using
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commercially reasonable procedures in converting the currency received into the Contractual Currency, to purchase the Contractual Currency with the
amount of the currency of the judgment or order actually received by such party.

(c) Separate Indemnities. To the extent permitted by applicable law, the indemnities in this Section 8 constitute separate and independent obligations from
the other obligations in this Agreement, will be enforceable as separate and independent causes of action, will apply notwithstanding any indulgence granted
by the party to which any payment is owed and will not be affected by judgment being obtained or claim or proof being made for any other sums payable in
respect of this Agreement.

(d) Evidence of Loss. For the purpose of this Section 8, it will be sufficient for a party to demonstrate that it would have suffered a loss had an actual
exchange or purchase been made.
 
9. Miscellaneous
(a) Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement and understanding of the parties with respect to its subject matter. Each of the parties
acknowledges that in entering into this Agreement it has not relied on any oral or written representation, warranty or other assurance (except as provided for
or referred to in this Agreement) and waives all rights and remedies which might otherwise be available to it in respect thereof, except that nothing in this
Agreement will limit or exclude any liability of a party for fraud.

(b) Amendments. An amendment, modification or waiver in respect of this Agreement will only be effective if in writing (including a writing evidenced by a
facsimile transmission) and executed by each of the parties or confirmed by an exchange of telexes or by an exchange of electronic messages on an electronic
messaging system.

(c) Survival of Obligations. Without prejudice to Sections 2(a)(iii) and 6(c)(ii), the obligations of the parties under this Agreement will survive the
termination of any Transaction.

(d) Remedies Cumulative. Except as provided in this Agreement, the rights, powers, remedies and privileges provided in this Agreement are cumulative and
not exclusive of any rights, powers, remedies and privileges provided by law.

(e) Counterparts and Confirmations.
(i) This Agreement (and each amendment, modification and waiver in respect of it) may be executed and delivered in counterparts (including by
facsimile transmission and by electronic messaging system), each of which will be deemed an original.
(ii) The parties intend that they are legally bound by the terms of each Transaction from the moment they agree to those terms (whether orally or
otherwise). A Confirmation will be entered into as soon as practicable and may be executed and delivered in counterparts (including by facsimile
transmission) or be created by an exchange of telexes, by an exchange of electronic messages on an electronic messaging system or by an exchange of
e-mails, which in each case will be sufficient for all purposes to evidence a binding supplement to this Agreement. The parties will specify therein or
through another effective means that any such counterpart, telex, electronic message or e-mail constitutes a Confirmation.

(f) No Waiver of Rights. A failure or delay in exercising any right, power or privilege in respect of this Agreement will not be presumed to operate as a waiver,
and a single or partial exercise of any right, power or privilege will not be presumed to preclude any subsequent or further exercise, of that right, power or
privilege or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege.

(g) Headings. The headings used in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and are not to affect the construction of or to be taken into
consideration in interpreting this Agreement.
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(h) Interest and Compensation.
(i) Prior to Early Termination. Prior to the occurrence or effective designation of an Early Termination Date in respect of the relevant Transaction:—

(1) Interest on Defaulted Payments. If a party defaults in the performance of any payment obligation, it will, to the extent permitted by
applicable law and subject to Section 6(c), pay interest (before as well as after judgment) on the overdue amount to the other party on demand in
the same currency as the overdue amount, for the period from (and including) the original due date for payment to (but excluding) the date of
actual payment (and excluding any period in respect of which interest or compensation in respect of the overdue amount is due pursuant to
clause (3)(B) or (C) below), at the Default Rate.
(2) Compensation for Defaulted Deliveries. If a party defaults in the performance of any obligation required to be settled by delivery, it will on
demand (A) compensate the other party to the extent provided for in the relevant Confirmation or elsewhere in this Agreement and (B) unless
otherwise provided in the relevant Confirmation or elsewhere in this Agreement, to the extent permitted by applicable law and subject to
Section 6(c), pay to the other party interest (before as well as after judgment) on an amount equal to the fair market value of that which was
required to be delivered in the same currency as that amount, for the period from (and including) the originally scheduled date for delivery to
(but excluding) the date of actual delivery (and excluding any period in respect of which interest or compensation in respect of that amount is
due pursuant to clause (4) below), at the Default Rate. The fair market value of any obligation referred to above will be determined as of the
originally scheduled date for delivery, in good faith and using commercially reasonable procedures, by the party that was entitled to take
delivery.

(3) Interest on Deferred Payments. If:—
(A) a party does not pay any amount that, but for Section 2(a)(iii), would have been payable, it will, to the extent permitted by applicable
law and subject to Section 6(c) and clauses (B) and (C) below, pay interest (before as well as after judgment) on that amount to the other
party on demand (after such amount becomes payable) in the same currency as that amount, for the period from (and including) the date
the amount would, but for Section 2(a)(iii), have been payable to (but excluding) the date the amount actually becomes payable, at the
Applicable Deferral Rate;

(B) a payment is deferred pursuant to Section 5(d), the party which would otherwise have been required to make that payment will, to the
extent permitted by applicable law, subject to Section 6(c) and for so long as no Event of Default or Potential Event of Default with
respect to that party has occurred and is continuing, pay interest (before as well as after judgment) on the amount of the deferred payment
to the other party on demand (after such amount becomes payable) in the same currency as the deferred payment, for the period from (and
including) the date the amount would, but for Section 5(d), have been payable to (but excluding) the earlier of the date the payment is no
longer deferred pursuant to Section 5(d) and the date during the deferral period upon which an Event of Default or Potential Event of
Default with respect to that party occurs, at the Applicable Deferral Rate; or

(C) a party fails to make any payment due to the occurrence of an Illegality or a Force Majeure Event (after giving effect to any deferral
period contemplated by clause (B) above), it will, to the extent permitted by applicable law, subject to Section 6(c) and for so long as the
event or circumstance giving rise to that Illegality or Force Majeure Event
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continues and no Event of Default or Potential Event of Default with respect to that party has occurred and is continuing, pay interest
(before as well as after judgment) on the overdue amount to the other party on demand in the same currency as the overdue amount, for
the period from (and including) the date the party fails to make the payment due to the occurrence of the relevant Illegality or Force
Majeure Event (or, if later, the date the payment is no longer deferred pursuant to Section 5(d)) to (but excluding) the earlier of the date
the event or circumstance giving rise to that Illegality or Force Majeure Event ceases to exist and the date during the period upon which
an Event of Default or Potential Event of Default with respect to that party occurs (and excluding any period in respect of which interest
or compensation in respect of the overdue amount is due pursuant to clause (B) above), at the Applicable Deferral Rate.

(4) Compensation for Deferred Deliveries. If:—
(A) a party does not perform any obligation that, but for Section 2(a)(iii), would have been required to be settled by delivery;
(B) a delivery is deferred pursuant to Section 5(d); or
(C) a party fails to make a delivery due to the occurrence of an Illegality or a Force Majeure Event at a time when any applicable Waiting
Period has expired,

the party required (or that would otherwise have been required) to make the delivery will, to the extent permitted by applicable law and subject
to Section 6(c), compensate and pay interest to the other party on demand (after, in the case of clauses (A) and (B) above, such delivery is
required) if and to the extent provided for in the relevant Confirmation or elsewhere in this Agreement.

(ii) Early Termination. Upon the occurrence or effective designation of an Early Termination Date in respect of a Transaction:—
(1) Unpaid Amounts. For the purpose of determining an Unpaid Amount in respect of the relevant Transaction, and to the extent permitted by
applicable law, interest will accrue on the amount of any payment obligation or the amount equal to the fair market value of any obligation
required to be settled by delivery included in such determination in the same currency as that amount, for the period from (and including) the
date the relevant obligation was (or would have been but for Section 2(a)(iii) or 5(d)) required to have been performed to (but excluding) the
relevant Early Termination Date, at the Applicable Close-out Rate.
(2) Interest on Early Termination Amounts. If an Early Termination Amount is due in respect of such Early Termination Date, that amount will, to
the extent permitted by applicable law, be paid together with interest (before as well as after judgment) on that amount in the Termination
Currency, for the period from (and including) such Early Termination Date to (but excluding) the date the amount is paid, at the Applicable
Close-out Rate.

(iii) Interest Calculation. Any interest pursuant to this Section 9(h) will be calculated on the basis of daily compounding and the actual number of
days elapsed.
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10. Offices; Multibranch Parties
(a) If Section 10(a) is specified in the Schedule as applying, each party that enters into a Transaction through an Office other than its head or home office
represents to and agrees with the other party that, notwithstanding the place of booking or its jurisdiction of incorporation or organisation, its obligations are
the same in terms of recourse against it as if it had entered into the Transaction through its head or home office, except that a party will not have recourse to
the head or home office of the other party in respect of any payment or delivery deferred pursuant to Section 5(d) for so long as the payment or delivery is so
deferred. This representation and agreement will be deemed to be repeated by each party on each date on which the parties enter into a Transaction.

(b) If a party is specified as a Multibranch Party in the Schedule, such party may, subject to clause (c) below, enter into a Transaction through, book a
Transaction in and make and receive payments and deliveries with respect to a Transaction through any Office listed in respect of that party in the Schedule
(but not any other Office unless otherwise agreed by the parties in writing).

(c) The Office through which a party enters into a Transaction will be the Office specified for that party in the relevant Confirmation or as otherwise agreed by
the parties in writing, and, if an Office for that party is not specified in the Confirmation or otherwise agreed by the parties in writing, its head or home office.
Unless the parties otherwise agree in writing, the Office through which a party enters into a Transaction will also be the Office in which it books the
Transaction and the Office through which it makes and receives payments and deliveries with respect to the Transaction. Subject to Section 6(b)(ii), neither
party may change the Office in which it books the Transaction or the Office through which it makes and receives payments or deliveries with respect to a
Transaction without the prior written consent of the other party.
 
11. Expenses
A Defaulting Party will on demand indemnify and hold harmless the other party for and against all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses, including legal fees,
execution fees and Stamp Tax, incurred by such other party by reason of the enforcement and protection of its rights under this Agreement or any Credit
Support Document to which the Defaulting Party is a party or by reason of the early termination of any Transaction, including, but not limited to, costs of
collection.
 
12. Notices
(a) Effectiveness. Any notice or other communication in respect of this Agreement may be given in any manner described below (except that a notice or other
communication under Section 5 or 6 may not be given by electronic messaging system or e-mail) to the address or number or in accordance with the
electronic messaging system or e-mail details provided (see the Schedule) and will be deemed effective as indicated:—

(i) if in writing and delivered in person or by courier, on the date it is delivered;
(ii) if sent by telex, on the date the recipient’s answerback is received;
(iii) if sent by facsimile transmission, on the date it is received by a responsible employee of the recipient in legible form (it being agreed that the
burden of proving receipt will be on the sender and will not be met by a transmission report generated by the sender’s facsimile machine);
(iv) if sent by certified or registered mail (airmail, if overseas) or the equivalent (return receipt requested), on the date it is delivered or its delivery is
attempted;
(v) if sent by electronic messaging system, on the date it is received; or
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(vi) if sent by e-mail, on the date it is delivered,

unless the date of that delivery (or attempted delivery) or that receipt, as applicable, is not a Local Business Day or that communication is delivered (or
attempted) or received, as applicable, after the close of business on a Local Business Day, in which case that communication will be deemed given and
effective on the first following day that is a Local Business Day.

(b) Change of Details. Either party may by notice to the other change the address, telex or facsimile number or electronic messaging system or e-mail details
at which notices or other communications are to be given to it.
 
13. Governing Law and Jurisdiction
(a) Governing Law. This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the law specified in the Schedule.

(b) Jurisdiction. With respect to any suit, action or proceedings relating to any dispute arising out of or in connection with this Agreement (“Proceedings”),
each party irrevocably:—

(i) submits:—
(1) if this Agreement is expressed to be governed by English law, to (A) the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the English courts if the Proceedings do
not involve a Convention Court and (B) the exclusive jurisdiction of the English courts if the Proceedings do involve a Convention Court; or
(2) if this Agreement is expressed to be governed by the laws of the State of New York, to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the State
of New York and the United States District Court located in the Borough of Manhattan in New York City;

(ii) waives any objection which it may have at any time to the laying of venue of any Proceedings brought in any such court, waives any claim that
such Proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum and further waives the right to object, with respect to such Proceedings, that such court
does not have any jurisdiction over such party; and
(iii) agrees, to the extent permitted by applicable law, that the bringing of Proceedings in any one or more jurisdictions will not preclude the bringing
of Proceedings in any other jurisdiction.

(c) Service of Process. Each party irrevocably appoints the Process Agent, if any, specified opposite its name in the Schedule to receive, for it and on its
behalf, service of process in any Proceedings. If for any reason any party’s Process Agent is unable to act as such, such party will promptly notify the other
party and within 30 days appoint a substitute process agent acceptable to the other party. The parties irrevocably consent to service of process given in the
manner provided for notices in Section 12(a)(i), 12(a)(iii) or 12(a)(iv). Nothing in this Agreement will affect the right of either party to serve process in any
other manner permitted by applicable law.

(d) Waiver of Immunities. Each party irrevocably waives, to the extent permitted by applicable law, with respect to itself and its revenues and assets
(irrespective of their use or intended use), all immunity on the grounds of sovereignty or other similar grounds from (i) suit, (ii) jurisdiction of any court,
(iii) relief by way of injunction or order for specific performance or recovery of property, (iv) attachment of its assets (whether before or after judgment) and
(v) execution or enforcement of any judgment to which it or its revenues or assets might otherwise be entitled in any Proceedings in the courts of any
jurisdiction and irrevocably agrees, to the extent permitted by applicable law, that it will not claim any such immunity in any Proceedings.
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14. Definitions
As used in this Agreement:—

“Additional Representation” has the meaning specified in Section 3.

“Additional Termination Event” has the meaning specified in Section 5(b).

“Affected Party” has the meaning specified in Section 5(b).

“Affected Transactions” means (a) with respect to any Termination Event consisting of an Illegality, Force Majeure Event, Tax Event or Tax Event Upon
Merger, all Transactions affected by the occurrence of such Termination Event (which, in the case of an Illegality under Section 5(b)(i)(2) or a Force Majeure
Event under Section 5(b)(ii)(2), means all Transactions unless the relevant Credit Support Document references only certain Transactions, in which case those
Transactions and, if the relevant Credit Support Document constitutes a Confirmation for a Transaction, that Transaction) and (b) with respect to any other
Termination Event, all Transactions.

“Affiliate” means, subject to the Schedule, in relation to any person, any entity controlled, directly or indirectly, by the person, any entity that controls,
directly or indirectly, the person or any entity directly or indirectly under common control with the person. For this purpose, “control” of any entity or person
means ownership of a majority of the voting power of the entity or person.

“Agreement” has the meaning specified in Section 1(c).

“Applicable Close-out Rate” means:—
 
(a) in respect of the determination of an Unpaid Amount:—

(i) in respect of obligations payable or deliverable (or which would have been but for Section 2(a)(iii)) by a Defaulting Party, the Default Rate;
(ii) in respect of obligations payable or deliverable (or which would have been but for Section 2(a)(iii)) by a Non-defaulting Party, the Non-default
Rate;
(iii) in respect of obligations deferred pursuant to Section 5(d), if there is no Defaulting Party and for so long as the deferral period continues, the
Applicable Deferral Rate; and
(iv) in all other cases following the occurrence of a Termination Event (except where interest accrues pursuant to
clause (iii) above), the Applicable Deferral Rate; and

 
(b) in respect of an Early Termination Amount:—

(i) for the period from (and including) the relevant Early Termination Date to (but excluding) the date (determined in accordance with Section 6(d)(ii))
on which that amount is payable:—

(1) if the Early Termination Amount is payable by a Defaulting Party, the Default Rate;
(2) if the Early Termination Amount is payable by a Non-defaulting Party, the Non-default Rate; and
(3) in all other cases, the Applicable Deferral Rate; and
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(ii) for the period from (and including) the date (determined in accordance with Section 6(d)(ii)) on which that amount is payable to (but excluding) the
date of actual payment:—

(1) if a party fails to pay the Early Termination Amount due to the occurrence of an event or circumstance which would, if it occurred with
respect to a payment or delivery under a Transaction, constitute or give rise to an Illegality or a Force Majeure Event, and for so long as the Early
Termination Amount remains unpaid due to the continuing existence of such event or circumstance, the Applicable Deferral Rate;
(2) if the Early Termination Amount is payable by a Defaulting Party (but excluding any period in respect of which clause (1) above applies), the
Default Rate;
(3) if the Early Termination Amount is payable by a Non-defaulting Party (but excluding any period in respect of which clause (1) above
applies), the Non-default Rate; and
(4) in all other cases, the Termination Rate.

“Applicable Deferral Rate” means:—
(a) for the purpose of Section 9(h)(i)(3)(A), the rate certified by the relevant payer to be a rate offered to the payer by a major bank in a relevant interbank
market for overnight deposits in the applicable currency, such bank to be selected in good faith by the payer for the purpose of obtaining a representative rate
that will reasonably reflect conditions prevailing at the time in that relevant market;

(b) for purposes of Section 9(h)(i)(3)(B) and clause (a)(iii) of the definition of Applicable Close-out Rate, the rate certified by the relevant payer to be a rate
offered to prime banks by a major bank in a relevant interbank market for overnight deposits in the applicable currency, such bank to be selected in good
faith by the payer after consultation with the other party, if practicable, for the purpose of obtaining a representative rate that will reasonably reflect
conditions prevailing at the time in that relevant market; and

(c) for purposes of Section 9(h)(i)(3)(C) and clauses (a)(iv), (b)(i)(3) and (b)(ii)(1) of the definition of Applicable Close-out Rate, a rate equal to the arithmetic
mean of the rate determined pursuant to clause (a) above and a rate per annum equal to the cost (without proof or evidence of any actual cost) to the relevant
payee (as certified by it) if it were to fund or of funding the relevant amount.

“Automatic Early Termination” has the meaning specified in Section 6(a).

“Burdened Party” has the meaning specified in Section 5(b)(iv).

“Change in Tax Law” means the enactment, promulgation, execution or ratification of, or any change in or amendment to, any law (or in the application or
official interpretation of any law) that occurs after the parties enter into the relevant Transaction.

“Close-out Amount” means, with respect to each Terminated Transaction or each group of Terminated Transactions and a Determining Party, the amount of
the losses or costs of the Determining Party that are or would be incurred under then prevailing circumstances (expressed as a positive number) or gains of the
Determining Party that are or would be realised under then prevailing circumstances (expressed as a negative number) in replacing, or in providing for the
Determining Party the economic equivalent of, (a) the material terms of that Terminated Transaction or group of Terminated Transactions, including the
payments and deliveries by the parties under Section 2(a)(i) in respect of that Terminated Transaction or group of Terminated Transactions that would, but for
the occurrence of the relevant Early Termination Date, have been required after that date (assuming satisfaction of the conditions precedent in
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Section 2(a)(iii)) and (b) the option rights of the parties in respect of that Terminated Transaction or group of Terminated Transactions.

Any Close-out Amount will be determined by the Determining Party (or its agent), which will act in good faith and use commercially reasonable procedures
in order to produce a commercially reasonable result. The Determining Party may determine a Close-out Amount for any group of Terminated Transactions or
any individual Terminated Transaction but, in the aggregate, for not less than all Terminated Transactions. Each Close-out Amount will be determined as of
the Early Termination Date or, if that would not be commercially reasonable, as of the date or dates following the Early Termination Date as would be
commercially reasonable.

Unpaid Amounts in respect of a Terminated Transaction or group of Terminated Transactions and legal fees and out-of-pocket expenses referred to in
Section 11 are to be excluded in all determinations of Close-out Amounts.

In determining a Close-out Amount, the Determining Party may consider any relevant information, including, without limitation, one or more of the
following types of information: —

(i) quotations (either firm or indicative) for replacement transactions supplied by one or more third parties that may take into account the creditworthiness of
the Determining Party at the time the quotation is provided and the terms of any relevant documentation, including credit support documentation, between
the Determining Party and the third party providing the quotation;

(ii) information consisting of relevant market data in the relevant market supplied by one or more third parties including, without limitation, relevant rates,
prices, yields, yield curves, volatilities, spreads, correlations or other relevant market data in the relevant market; or

(iii) information of the types described in clause (i) or (ii) above from internal sources (including any of the Determining Party’s Affiliates) if that information
is of the same type used by the Determining Party in the regular course of its business for the valuation of similar transactions.

The Determining Party will consider, taking into account the standards and procedures described in this definition, quotations pursuant to clause (i) above or
relevant market data pursuant to clause (ii) above unless the Determining Party reasonably believes in good faith that such quotations or relevant market data
are not readily available or would produce a result that would not satisfy those standards. When considering information described in clause (i), (ii) or (iii)
above, the Determining Party may include costs of funding, to the extent costs of funding are not and would not be a component of the other information
being utilised. Third parties supplying quotations pursuant to clause (i) above or market data pursuant to clause (ii) above may include, without limitation,
dealers in the relevant markets, end-users of the relevant product, information vendors, brokers and other sources of market information.

Without duplication of amounts calculated based on information described in clause (i), (ii) or (iii) above, or other relevant information, and when it is
commercially reasonable to do so, the Determining Party may in addition consider in calculating a Close-out Amount any loss or cost incurred in connection
with its terminating, liquidating or re-establishing any hedge related to a Terminated Transaction or group of Terminated Transactions (or any gain resulting
from any of them).

Commercially reasonable procedures used in determining a Close-out Amount may include the following:—

(1) application to relevant market data from third parties pursuant to clause (ii) above or information from internal sources pursuant to clause (iii) above of
pricing or other valuation models that are, at the time of the determination of the Close-out Amount, used by the Determining Party in the regular course of its
business in pricing or valuing transactions between the Determining Party and unrelated third parties that are similar to the Terminated Transaction or group
of Terminated Transactions; and
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(2) application of different valuation methods to Terminated Transactions or groups of Terminated Transactions depending on the type, complexity, size or
number of the Terminated Transactions or group of Terminated Transactions.

“Confirmation” has the meaning specified in the preamble.

“consent” includes a consent, approval, action, authorisation, exemption, notice, filing, registration or exchange control consent.

“Contractual Currency” has the meaning specified in Section 8(a).

“Convention Court” means any court which is bound to apply to the Proceedings either Article 17 of the 1968 Brussels Convention on Jurisdiction and the
Enforcement of Judgments in Civil and Commercial Matters or Article 17 of the 1988 Lugano Convention on Jurisdiction and the Enforcement of Judgments
in Civil and Commercial Matters.

“Credit Event Upon Merger” has the meaning specified in Section 5(b).

“Credit Support Document” means any agreement or instrument that is specified as such in this Agreement.

“Credit Support Provider” has the meaning specified in the Schedule.

“Cross-Default” means the event specified in Section 5(a)(vi).

“Default Rate” means a rate per annum equal to the cost (without proof or evidence of any actual cost) to the relevant payee (as certified by it) if it were to
fund or of funding the relevant amount plus 1% per annum.

“Defaulting Party” has the meaning specified in Section 6(a).

“Designated Event” has the meaning specified in Section 5(b)(v).

“Determining Party” means the party determining a Close-out Amount.

“Early Termination Amount” has the meaning specified in Section 6(e).

“Early Termination Date” means the date determined in accordance with Section 6(a) or 6(b)(iv).

“electronic messages” does not include e-mails but does include documents expressed in markup languages, and
“electronic messaging system” will be construed accordingly.

“English law” means the law of England and Wales, and

“English” will be construed accordingly.

“Event of Default” has the meaning specified in Section 5(a) and, if applicable, in the Schedule.

“Force Majeure Event” has the meaning specified in Section 5(b).

“General Business Day” means a day on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealings in foreign exchange and foreign
currency deposits).

“Illegality” has the meaning specified in Section 5(b).
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“Indemnifiable Tax” means any Tax other than a Tax that would not be imposed in respect of a payment under this Agreement but for a present or former
connection between the jurisdiction of the government or taxation authority imposing such Tax and the recipient of such payment or a person related to such
recipient (including, without limitation, a connection arising from such recipient or related person being or having been a citizen or resident of such
jurisdiction, or being or having been organised, present or engaged in a trade or business in such jurisdiction, or having or having had a permanent
establishment or fixed place of business in such jurisdiction, but excluding a connection arising solely from such recipient or related person having executed,
delivered, performed its obligations or received a payment under, or enforced, this Agreement or a Credit Support Document).

“law” includes any treaty, law, rule or regulation (as modified, in the case of tax matters, by the practice of any relevant governmental revenue authority),
and “unlawful” will be construed accordingly.

“Local Business Day” means (a) in relation to any obligation under Section 2(a)(i), a General Business Day in the place or places specified in the relevant
Confirmation and a day on which a relevant settlement system is open or operating as specified in the relevant Confirmation or, if a place or a settlement
system is not so specified, as otherwise agreed by the parties in writing or determined pursuant to provisions contained, or incorporated by reference, in this
Agreement, (b) for the purpose of determining when a Waiting Period expires, a General Business Day in the place where the event or circumstance that
constitutes or gives rise to the Illegality or Force Majeure Event, as the case may be, occurs, (c) in relation to any other payment, a General Business Day in
the place where the relevant account is located and, if different, in the principal financial centre, if any, of the currency of such payment and, if that currency
does not have a single recognised principal financial centre, a day on which the settlement system necessary to accomplish such payment is open, (d) in
relation to any notice or other communication, including notice contemplated under Section 5(a)(i), a General Business Day (or a day that would have been a
General Business Day but for the occurrence of an event or circumstance which would, if it occurred with respect to payment, delivery or compliance related
to a Transaction, constitute or give rise to an Illegality or a Force Majeure Event) in the place specified in the address for notice provided by the recipient
and, in the case of a notice contemplated by Section 2(b), in the place where the relevant new account is to be located and (e) in relation to Section 5(a)(v)(2),
a General Business Day in the relevant locations for performance with respect to such Specified Transaction.

“Local Delivery Day” means, for purposes of Sections 5(a)(i) and 5(d), a day on which settlement systems necessary to accomplish the relevant delivery are
generally open for business so that the delivery is capable of being accomplished in accordance with customary market practice, in the place specified in the
relevant Confirmation or, if not so specified, in a location as determined in accordance with customary market practice for the relevant delivery.

“Master Agreement” has the meaning specified in the preamble.

“Merger Without Assumption” means the event specified in Section 5(a)(viii).

“Multiple Transaction Payment Netting” has the meaning specified in Section 2(c).

“Non-affected Party” means, so long as there is only one Affected Party, the other party.

“Non-default Rate” means the rate certified by the Non-defaulting Party to be a rate offered to the Non-defaulting Party by a major bank in a relevant
interbank market for overnight deposits in the applicable currency, such bank to be selected in good faith by the Non-defaulting Party for the purpose of
obtaining a representative rate that will reasonably reflect conditions prevailing at the time in that relevant market.

“Non-defaulting Party” has the meaning specified in Section 6(a).

“Office” means a branch or office of a party, which may be such party’s head or home office.

“Other Amounts” has the meaning specified in Section 6(f).
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“Payee” has the meaning specified in Section 6(f).

“Payer” has the meaning specified in Section 6(f).

“Potential Event of Default” means any event which, with the giving of notice or the lapse of time or both, would constitute an Event of Default.

“Proceedings” has the meaning specified in Section 13(b).

“Process Agent” has the meaning specified in the Schedule.

“rate of exchange” includes, without limitation, any premiums and costs of exchange payable in connection with the purchase of or conversion into the
Contractual Currency.

“Relevant Jurisdiction” means, with respect to a party, the jurisdictions (a) in which the party is incorporated, organised, managed and controlled or
considered to have its seat, (b) where an Office through which the party is acting for purposes of this Agreement is located, (c) in which the party executes this
Agreement and (d) in relation to any payment, from or through which such payment is made.

“Schedule” has the meaning specified in the preamble.

“Scheduled Settlement Date” means a date on which a payment or delivery is to be made under Section 2(a)(i) with respect to a Transaction.

“Specified Entity” has the meaning specified in the Schedule.

“Specified Indebtedness” means, subject to the Schedule, any obligation (whether present or future, contingent or otherwise, as principal or surety or
otherwise) in respect of borrowed money.

“Specified Transaction” means, subject to the Schedule, (a) any transaction (including an agreement with respect to any such transaction) now existing or
hereafter entered into between one party to this Agreement (or any Credit Support Provider of such party or any applicable Specified Entity of such party) and
the other party to this Agreement (or any Credit Support Provider of such other party or any applicable Specified Entity of such other party) which is not a
Transaction under this Agreement but (i) which is a rate swap transaction, swap option, basis swap, forward rate transaction, commodity swap, commodity
option, equity or equity index swap, equity or equity index option, bond option, interest rate option, foreign exchange transaction, cap transaction, floor
transaction, collar transaction, currency swap transaction, cross-currency rate swap transaction, currency option, credit protection transaction, credit swap,
credit default swap, credit default option, total return swap, credit spread transaction, repurchase transaction, reverse repurchase transaction, buy/sell-back
transaction, securities lending transaction, weather index transaction or forward purchase or sale of a security, commodity or other financial instrument or
interest (including any option with respect to any of these transactions) or (ii) which is a type of transaction that is similar to any transaction referred to in
clause (i) above that is currently, or in the future becomes, recurrently entered into in the financial markets (including terms and conditions incorporated by
reference in such agreement) and which is a forward, swap, future, option or other derivative on one or more rates, currencies, commodities, equity securities
or other equity instruments, debt securities or other debt instruments, economic indices or measures of economic risk or value, or other benchmarks against
which payments or deliveries are to be made, (b) any combination of these transactions and
(c) any other transaction identified as a Specified Transaction in this Agreement or the relevant confirmation.

“Stamp Tax” means any stamp, registration, documentation or similar tax.

“Stamp Tax Jurisdiction” has the meaning specified in Section 4(e).
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“Tax” means any present or future tax, levy, impost, duty, charge, assessment or fee of any nature (including interest, penalties and additions thereto) that is
imposed by any government or other taxing authority in respect of any payment under this Agreement other than a stamp, registration, documentation or
similar tax.

“Tax Event” has the meaning specified in Section 5(b).

“Tax Event Upon Merger” has the meaning specified in Section 5(b).

“Terminated Transactions” means, with respect to any Early Termination Date, (a) if resulting from an Illegality or a Force Majeure Event, all Affected
Transactions specified in the notice given pursuant to Section 6(b)(iv), (b) if resulting from any other Termination Event, all Affected Transactions and (c) if
resulting from an Event of Default, all Transactions in effect either immediately before the effectiveness of the notice designating that Early Termination Date
or, if Automatic Early Termination applies, immediately before that Early Termination Date.

“Termination Currency” means (a) if a Termination Currency is specified in the Schedule and that currency is freely available, that currency, and
(b) otherwise, euro if this Agreement is expressed to be governed by English law or United States Dollars if this Agreement is expressed to be governed by the
laws of the State of New York.

“Termination Currency Equivalent” means, in respect of any amount denominated in the Termination Currency, such Termination Currency amount and, in
respect of any amount denominated in a currency other than the Termination Currency (the “Other Currency”), the amount in the Termination Currency
determined by the party making the relevant determination as being required to purchase such amount of such Other Currency as at the relevant Early
Termination Date, or, if the relevant Close-out Amount is determined as of a later date, that later date, with the Termination Currency at the rate equal to the
spot exchange rate of the foreign exchange agent (selected as provided below) for the purchase of such Other Currency with the Termination Currency at or
about 11:00 a.m. (in the city in which such foreign exchange agent is located) on such date as would be customary for the determination of such a rate for the
purchase of such Other Currency for value on the relevant Early Termination Date or that later date. The foreign exchange agent will, if only one party is
obliged to make a determination under Section 6(e), be selected in good faith by that party and otherwise will be agreed by the parties.

“Termination Event” means an Illegality, a Force Majeure Event, a Tax Event, a Tax Event Upon Merger or, if specified to be applicable, a Credit Event
Upon Merger or an Additional Termination Event.

“Termination Rate” means a rate per annum equal to the arithmetic mean of the cost (without proof or evidence of any actual cost) to each party (as certified
by such party) if it were to fund or of funding such amounts.

“Threshold Amount” means the amount, if any, specified as such in the Schedule.

“Transaction” has the meaning specified in the preamble.

“Unpaid Amounts” owing to any party means, with respect to an Early Termination Date, the aggregate of (a) in respect of all Terminated Transactions, the
amounts that became payable (or that would have become payable but for Section 2(a)(iii) or due but for Section 5(d)) to such party under Section 2(a)(i) or
2(d)(i)(4) on or prior to such Early Termination Date and which remain unpaid as at such Early Termination Date, (b) in respect of each Terminated
Transaction, for each obligation under Section 2(a)(i) which was (or would have been but for Section 2(a)(iii) or 5(d)) required to be settled by delivery to
such party on or prior to such Early Termination Date and which has not been so settled as at such Early Termination Date, an amount equal to the fair market
value of that which was (or would have been) required to be delivered and (c) if the Early Termination Date results from an Event of Default, a Credit Event
Upon Merger or an Additional Termination Event in respect of which all outstanding Transactions are Affected Transactions, any Early Termination Amount
due prior to such Early Termination Date and which remains unpaid as of such Early Termination Date, in each case together with any amount of interest
accrued or other
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compensation in respect of that obligation or deferred obligation, as the case may be, pursuant to Section 9(h)(ii)(1) or (2), as appropriate. The fair market
value of any obligation referred to in clause (b) above will be determined as of the originally scheduled date for delivery, in good faith and using
commercially reasonable procedures, by the party obliged to make the determination under Section 6(e) or, if each party is so obliged, it will be the average
of the Termination Currency Equivalents of the fair market values so determined by both parties.

“Waiting Period” means:—
(a) in respect of an event or circumstance under Section 5(b)(i), other than in the case of Section 5(b)(i)(2) where the relevant payment, delivery or compliance
is actually required on the relevant day (in which case no Waiting Period will apply), a period of three Local Business Days (or days that would have been
Local Business Days but for the occurrence of that event or circumstance) following the occurrence of that event or circumstance; and

(b) in respect of an event or circumstance under Section 5(b)(ii), other than in the case of Section 5(b)(ii)(2) where the relevant payment, delivery or
compliance is actually required on the relevant day (in which case no Waiting Period will apply), a period of eight Local Business Days (or days that would
have been Local Business Days but for the occurrence of that event or circumstance) following the occurrence of that event or circumstance.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have executed this document on the respective dates specified below with effect from the date specified on the first page
of this document.
 
Bank of America, N.A.     Natural Alternatives International, Inc.

(Name of Party)     (Name of Party)

 
By:  /s/ Roger H. Heintzelman     By:  /s/ Kenneth Wolf

  Name:     Roger H. Heintzelman     Name:  Kenneth Wolf
  Title:       Director     Title:  COO & CFO

      By:   
      Name:  
      Title:  
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ISDA®
International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc.

SCHEDULE
to the

2002 Master Agreement

dated as of March 10, 2011

between

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,
a national banking association organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America,

(“Party A”)

and

NATURAL ALTERNATIVES INTERNATIONAL, INC.,
a corporation organized and existing under the laws of California,

(“Party B”)

Part 1
Termination Provisions

 
(a) “Specified Entity” means in relation to Party A for the purpose of Sections 5(a)(v), 5(a)(vi), 5(a)(vii) and 5(b)(v): none;

“Specified Entity” means in relation to Party B for the purpose of Sections 5(a)(v), 5(a)(vi), 5(a)(vii) and 5(b)(v): any Affiliate of Party B.
 

(b) “Specified Transaction” will have the meaning specified in Section 14 but shall also include any transaction with respect to margin loans, cash loans
and short sales of any financial instrument, and as amended by inserting the words, “or any Affiliate of Party A” immediately after “Agreement” in the
second line thereof.

 

(c) The “Cross-Default” provisions of Section 5(a)(vi):
will apply to Party A and
will apply to Party B.
In connection therewith, “Specified Indebtedness” will not have the meaning specified in Section 14, and such definition shall be replaced by the
following: “any obligation in
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respect of the payment or repayment of moneys (whether present or future, contingent or otherwise, as principal or surety or otherwise), including, but
without limitation, any obligation in respect of borrowed money except that such term shall not include obligations in respect of deposits received in
the ordinary course of a party’s banking business.”
“Threshold Amount” means with respect to Party A an amount equal to three percent (3%) of the Shareholders’ Equity of Bank of America Corporation
and with respect to Party B, zero ($0).
“Shareholders’ Equity” means with respect to an entity, at any time, the sum (as shown in the most recent annual audited financial statements of such
entity) of (i) its capital stock (including preferred stock) outstanding, taken at par value, (ii) its capital surplus and (iii) its retained earnings, minus
(iv) treasury stock, each to be determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

 

(d) The “Credit Event Upon Merger” provisions of Section 5(b)(v):
will apply to Party A
will apply to Party B

 

(e) The “Automatic Early Termination” provision of Section 6(a):
will not apply to Party A
will not apply to Party B.

 

(f) “Termination Currency” means United States Dollars.
 

(g) Additional Termination Event will not apply.

Part 2
Tax Representations

 
(a) Payer Tax Representations. For the purpose of Section 3(e) of this Agreement, Party A and Party B will make the following representation:-

It is not required by any applicable law, as modified by the practice of any relevant governmental revenue authority, of any Relevant Jurisdiction to
make any deduction or withholding for or on account of any Tax from any payment (other than interest under Section 9(h) of this Agreement) to be
made by it to the other party under this Agreement. In making this representation, it may rely on (i) the accuracy of any representations made by the
other party pursuant to Section 3(f) of this Agreement, (ii) the satisfaction of the agreement contained in Section 4(a)(i) or 4(a)(iii) of this Agreement
and the accuracy and effectiveness of any document provided by the other party pursuant to Section 4(a)(i) or 4(a)(iii) of this Agreement and (iii) the
satisfaction of the agreement of the other party contained in Section 4(d) of this Agreement, except that it will not be a breach of this representation
where reliance is placed on clause (ii) above and the other party does not deliver a form or document under Section 4(a)(iii) by reason of material
prejudice to its legal or commercial position.

 

(b) Payee Tax Representations. For the purpose of Section 3(f) of this Agreement, Party A and Party B will make the following representations specified
below, if any:-
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 (i) The following representations will apply to Party A:
Party A is a national banking association created or organized under the laws of the United States of America and the federal taxpayer
identification number is 94-1687665.

 

 (ii) The following representations will apply to Party B:
Party B is a corporation created or organized under the laws of the State of California and the federal taxpayer identification number is 84-
1007839.

Part 3
Agreement to Deliver Documents

For the purpose of Section 4(a)(i) and (ii) of this Agreement, each party agrees to deliver the following documents:
 
(a) Tax forms, documents or certificates to be delivered are:
 
Party required to
deliver document   Document   

Date by which to be
delivered

Party B   Internal Revenue Service Form W-9   Upon execution and delivery of this Agreement
 
(b) Other documents to be delivered are:-
 
Party required
to deliver
document   Form/Document/Certificate   

Date by which to
be delivered   

Covered by
Section 3(d)
Representation

Party A and Party B

  

Certified copies of all corporate, partnership or
membership authorizations, as the case may be, and
any other documents with respect to the execution,
delivery and performance of this Agreement and any
Credit Support Document   

Upon execution and delivery of this Agreement

  

Yes

Party A and Party B

  

Certificate of authority and specimen signatures of
individuals executing this Agreement and any Credit
Support Document   

Upon execution and delivery of this Agreement and
thereafter upon request of the other party

  

Yes
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Party required
to deliver
document   Form/Document/Certificate   

Date by which to
be delivered   

Covered by
Section 3(d)
Representation

Party A

  

Annual Report of Bank of America Corporation
containing audited, consolidated financial
statements certified by independent certified public
accountants and prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles in the
country in which such party is organized   

To be made available on
www.bankofamerica.com/investor/ as soon as
available and in any event within 90 days after the
end of each fiscal year of Party A

  

Yes

Party A

  

Quarterly Financial Statements of Bank of America
Corporation containing unaudited, consolidated
financial statements of such party’s fiscal quarter
prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the country in which such
party is organized   

To be made available on
www.bankofamerica.com/investor/ as soon as
available and in any event within 45 days after the
end of each fiscal quarter of Party A

  

Yes

Party B

  

Annual Report of Party B and of any Credit Support
Provider thereof containing audited, consolidated
financial statements certified by independent
certified public accountants and prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles in the country in which such party and
such Credit Support Provider is organized   

As soon as available and in any event within 90
days after the end of each fiscal year of Party B and
of the Credit Support Provider

  

Yes

Party B

  

Quarterly Financial Statements of Party B and any
Credit Support Provider thereof containing
unaudited, consolidated financial statements of such
party’s fiscal quarter prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles in the
country in which such party and such Credit Support
Provider is organized   

As soon as available and in any event within 45
days after the end of each fiscal quarter of Party B
and of the Credit Support Provider

  

Yes
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Part 4
Miscellaneous

 
(a) Address for Notices. For the purpose of Section 12(a) of this Agreement:-

Address for notice or communications to Party A:

Bank of America, N.A.
Willis Tower
233 South Wacker Drive, Suite 2800
Chicago, IL 60606
Attention: Swap Operations
Telephone No.: (312) 234 2732
Facsimile No.: (866) 255 1444

With a copy to:-

Bank of America, N.A.
50 Rockefeller Plaza, NY1-050-10-01
New York, New York 10020
Attention: Client Integration and Documentation Group
Facsimile No.: (212) 548 8622

Address for financial statements to Party A:

Bank of America, N.A.
1601 I Street
Modesto, CA 95354
Attention: Elizabeth Bertelson, Vice President
Telephone No.: 209-342-2653

Address for notice or communications to Party B:

Natural Alternatives International, Inc.
1185 Linda Vista Drive
San Marcos, CA 92078
Attention: Kenneth Wolf, Chief Financial Officer
Telephone No.: 760-736-7745
Facsimile No.: 760-591-9637
Email Address: kwolf@nai-online.com

 
(b) Process Agent. For the purpose of Section 13(c):

Party A appoints as its Process Agent: Not applicable.
Party B appoints as its Process Agent: Not applicable.

 

(c) Offices. The provisions of Section 10(a) will apply to this Agreement.
 

(d) Multibranch Party. For the purpose of Section 10(b) of this Agreement:-
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Party A is a Multibranch Party and may act through its Charlotte, North Carolina, Chicago, Illinois, San Francisco, California, New York, New York,
Boston, Massachusetts or London, England Office, its Canada Branch, located in Toronto, Ontario or such other Office as may be agreed to by the
parties in connection with a Transaction.
Party B is not a Multibranch Party.

 

(e) Calculation Agent. The Calculation Agent is Party A.
 

(f) Credit Support Document. Details of any Credit Support Document:-
Not applicable.

 

(g) Credit Support Provider.
Credit Support Provider means in relation to Party A: Not applicable.
Credit Support Provider means in relation to Party B: Not applicable.

 

(h) Governing Law. This Agreement and any and all controversies arising out of or in relation to this Agreement shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State of New York (without reference to its conflict of laws doctrine).
Section 13 is amended by (i) deleting in Section 13(b)(i)(2) the word “non-exclusive” and replacing it with “exclusive” and (ii) deleting Section 13(b)
(iii) in its entirety.

 

(i) Netting of Payments. Unless the parties otherwise so agree, “Multiple Transaction Payment Netting” will apply for the purpose of Section 2(c) of this
Agreement to all Transactions, starting as of the date of this Agreement.

 

(j) “Affiliate” will have the meaning specified in Section 14 of this Agreement.
 

(k) Absence of Litigation. For the purpose of Section 3(c):-
“Specified Entity” means in relation to Party A, none;
“Specified Entity” means in relation to Party B, any Affiliate of Party B.

 

(l) No Agency. The provisions of Section 3(g) will apply to this Agreement.
 

(m) Additional Representation will apply. For the purpose of Section 3 of this Agreement, each of the following will constitute an Additional
Representation, which will be made by the party indicated below at the times specified below:-
Mutual Representations. Each party makes the following representations to the other party (which representations will be deemed to be repeated by
each party on each date on which a Transaction is entered into):

 

 (A) Relationship Between Parties. Each party will be deemed to represent to the other party on the date on which it enters into a Transaction that
(absent a written agreement between the parties that expressly imposes affirmative obligations to the contrary for that Transaction):-
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(1) Non-Reliance. It is acting for its own account, and it has made its own independent decisions to enter into that Transaction and as to
whether that Transaction is appropriate or proper for it based upon its own judgment and upon advice from such advisors as it has
deemed necessary. It is not relying on any communication (written or oral) of the other party as investment advice or as a
recommendation to enter into that Transaction, it being understood that information and explanations related to the terms and conditions
of a Transaction shall not be considered investment advice or a recommendation to enter into that Transaction. No communication
(written or oral) received from the other party will be deemed to be an assurance or guarantee as to the expected results of that
Transaction.

 

 
(2) Assessment and Understanding. It is capable of assessing the merits of and understanding (on its own behalf or through independent

professional advice), and understands and accepts, the terms, conditions and risks of that Transaction. It is also capable of assuming, and
assumes, the risks of that Transaction.

 

 (3) Status of Parties. The other party is not acting as a fiduciary for or an advisor to it in respect of that Transaction.
 

 (B) Eligible Contract Participant. It is an “eligible contract participant” as defined in Section 1a(12) of the U.S. Commodity Exchange Act, 7 U.S.C.
Section 1a(12).

 

(n) Recording of Conversations. Each party to this Agreement acknowledges and agrees to the recording of conversations between trading and marketing
personnel of the parties to this Agreement whether by one or other or both of the parties or their agents.

Part 5
Other Provisions

 
(a) Financial Statements. Section 3(d) is hereby amended by adding in the third line thereof after the word “respect” and before the period:

“or, in the case of financial statements, a fair presentation of the financial condition of the relevant party.”
 

(b) 2002 Master Agreement Protocol. Annexes 1 to 18 and Section 6 of the ISDA 2002 Master Agreement Protocol as published by the International
Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. on July 15, 2003 are incorporated into and apply to this Agreement. References in those definitions and
provisions to any ISDA Master Agreement will be deemed to be references to this Master Agreement.

 
(c) Consent to Disclosure.

(i) Party B consents to Party A effecting such disclosure as Party A may deem appropriate to enable Party A to transfer Party B’s records and information
to process and execute Party B’s instructions, or in pursuance of Party A’s or Party B’s commercial interest, to any of its Affiliates. For the avoidance of
doubt, Party B’s consent to
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disclosure includes the right on the part of Party A to allow access to any intended recipient of Party B’s information, to the records of Party A by any
means.
(ii) Party B further consents to Party A delivering this ISDA Master Agreement, any Credit Support Document and any Confirmations to one or more
third party financial institutions for the purposes of Party A entering into an agreement with such institution for the purposes of managing Party A’s
risk to Party B in any of the obligations of Party B to Party A under this Agreement, provided however, that any such agreement will not result in the
modification of Party A’s obligations under this Agreement.

 

(d) Transfer. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 7, Party A may assign and delegate its rights and obligations under (i) any one or more
Transactions or (ii) this Agreement and all Transactions hereunder (the “Transferred Obligations”) to any direct or indirect affiliate of Party A (the
“Assignee”) by notice specifying the effective date of such transfer (“Effective Date”) and including an executed acceptance and assumption by the
Assignee of the Transferred Obligations.
On the Effective Date, (a) Party A shall be released from all obligations and liabilities arising under the Transferred Obligations; and (b) if Party A has
not assigned and delegated its rights and obligations under this Agreement and all Transactions hereunder, the Transferred Obligations shall cease to
be Transaction(s) under this Agreement and shall be deemed to be Transaction(s) under the master agreement, if any, between Assignee and Party B,
provided that, if at such time Assignee and Party B have not entered into a master agreement, Assignee and Party B shall be deemed to have entered
into an ISDA form of Master Agreement (Multicurrency-Cross Border) with a Schedule substantially in the form hereof but amended to reflect the name
of the Assignee and the address for notices and any amended representations under Part 2 hereof as may be specified in the notice of transfer.

 

(e) Set-off. Section 6(f) is hereby amended as follows: the words “or any affiliates of the Payee in circumstances where the Payee is the non-Defaulting or
non-Affected Party” shall be inserted in the sixth line following the words “payable by the Payee”.

 

(f) WAIVER OF RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY. EACH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHTS TO TRIAL BY JURY WITH
RESPECT TO ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, ANY CREDIT SUPPORT DOCUMENT OR
ANY TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.

 

(g) Method of Notice. Section 12(a)(ii) of the Master Agreement is deleted in its entirety.
 

(h) Safe Harbors. Each party to this Agreement acknowledges that:
 

 

(i) This Agreement, including any Credit Support Document, is a “master netting agreement” as defined in the U.S. Bankruptcy Code (the “Code”),
and a “netting contract” as defined in the netting provisions of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act of 1991
(“FDICIA”), and this Agreement, including any Credit Support Document, and each Transaction hereunder is of a type set forth in
Section 561(a)(1)-(5) of the Code;

 

 (ii) Party A is a “master netting agreement participant,” a “financial institution,” a “financial participant,” a “forward contract merchant” and a “swap
participant”

 
36



 as defined in the Code, and a “financial institution” as defined in the netting provisions of FDICIA;
 

 (iii) The remedies provided herein, and in any Credit Support Document, are the remedies referred to in Section 561(a), Sections 362(b)(6), (7),
(17) and (27), and Section 362(o) of the Code, and in Section 11(e)(8)(A) and (C) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act;

 

 
(iv) All transfers of cash, securities or other property under or in connection with this Agreement, any Credit Support Document or any Transaction

hereunder are “margin payments,” “settlement payments” and “transfers” under Sections 546(e), (f), (g) or (j), and under Section 548(d)(2) of the
Code; and

 

 (v) Each obligation under this Agreement, any Credit Support Document or any Transaction hereunder is an obligation to make a “margin
payment,” “settlement payment” and “payment” within the meaning of Sections 362, 560 and 561 of the Code.

Part 6
Additional Terms for Foreign Exchange and Foreign Exchange Option Transactions

 
(a) Incorporation of Definitions. The 1998 FX and Currency Option Definitions (the “FX Definitions”), published by the International Swaps and

Derivatives Association, Inc., the Emerging Markets Traders Association and The Foreign Exchange Committee, are hereby incorporated by reference
with respect to FX Transactions (as defined in the FX Definitions) and Currency Option Transactions (as defined in the FX Definitions). Terms defined
in the FX Definitions shall have the same meanings in this Part 6.

 

(b) Scope. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the parties, each FX Transaction and Currency Option Transaction entered into between the parties
before, on or after the date of this Agreement shall be a Transaction under this Agreement and shall be part of, subject to and governed by this
Agreement. FX Transactions and Currency Option Transactions shall be part of, subject to and governed by this Agreement even if the Confirmation in
respect thereof does not state that such FX Transaction or Currency Option Transaction is subject to or governed by this Agreement or does not
otherwise reference this Agreement.
When an FX Transaction or a Currency Option is confirmed by means of exchange of electronic messages on an electronic messaging system or other
document or other confirming evidence exchanged between the parties confirming such Transaction, such messages, document or evidence will
constitute a Confirmation for the purposes of this Agreement even where not so specified therein.

 

(c) Premium Netting. If, on any date, and unless otherwise mutually agreed by the parties, Premiums would otherwise be payable hereunder in the same
Currency between the same respective offices of the parties, then, on such date, each party’s obligation to make payment of such Premiums will be
automatically satisfied and discharged and, if the aggregate Premiums that would otherwise have been payable by such office of one party exceeds the
aggregate Premiums that would otherwise have been payable by such office of the other party, replaced by an obligation upon the party by whom the
larger aggregate
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 Premiums would have been payable to pay the other party the excess of the larger aggregate Premiums over the smaller aggregate Premiums, and if the
aggregate Premiums are equal, no payment shall be made.

 

(d) Payment Netting of FX Transactions and Currency Option Transactions. Multiple Transaction Payment Netting shall not apply to FX Transactions or
Currency Option Transactions. Unless otherwise mutually agreed by the parties, if on any date more than one delivery of a particular Currency is to be
made between a pair of offices with respect to settlement of FX Transactions or Currency Option Transactions (but excluding payments with respect to
option premiums and cash settled options), then each party shall aggregate the amounts of such Currency deliverable by it and only the difference
between these aggregate amounts shall be delivered by the party owing the larger aggregate amount to the other party, and, if the aggregate amounts
are equal, no delivery of the Currency shall be made.

 

(e) Potential Event of Default. Subject to Section 2(a)(iii) of the Agreement, if an Event of Default or Potential Event of Default has occurred and is
continuing, and an Early Termination Date has not been designated by the Non-defaulting Party, the Non-defaulting Party may, by written notice,
specify that any or all Currency Options being settled while such Event of Default or Potential Event of Default is continuing shall be settled in
accordance with Article 3, Section 3.7 of the FX Definitions and upon such notice becoming effective, the Parties shall be deemed to have elected to
have the specified Currency Options settle at the In-the-Money Amount unless and until the Event of Default or Potential Event of Default is no longer
continuing.

 

(f) Payment Instructions. All payments to be made hereunder in respect of FX and Currency Option Transactions shall be made in accordance with
standing payment instructions provided by the parties from time to time in writing (or as otherwise specified in a Confirmation).

 

(g) Notice of Exercise. Article 3, Section 3.5(g) of the FX Definitions is amended by the deletion of the word “facsimile,” in the fourth line thereof.
 

(h) Automatic Exercise. Article 3, Section 3.6(c)(i), line six of the FX Definitions which currently reads “one percent of the Strike Price” shall be amended
to read “0.5% of the Strike Price.”

 

(i) Terms Relating to Premium. Article 3, Section 3.4 of the FX Definitions is hereby amended by the addition of the following as a new paragraph (c) of
the FX Definitions.
“(c) Premium: Failure to Pay on Premium Payment Date. If any Premium is not received on the Premium Payment Date, the Seller may elect: (i) to
accept a late payment of such Premium; (ii) to give written notice of such non- payment and, if such payment shall not be received within two (2) Local
Business Days of such notice, treat the related Currency Option as void; or (iii) to give written notice of such non-payment and, if such payment shall
not be received within two (2) Local Business Days of such notice, treat such non-payment as an Event of Default under Section 5(a)(i). If the Seller
elects to act under either clause (i) or (ii) of the preceding sentence, the Buyer shall pay all out-of-pocket costs and actual damages incurred in
connection with such unpaid or late Premium or void Currency Option, including, without limitation, interest on such Premium in the same currency as
such Premium at the then prevailing market rate and
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any other costs or expenses incurred by the Seller in covering its obligations (including, without limitation, a delta hedge) with respect to such
Currency Option.”

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Schedule by their duly authorized officers as of the date hereof.
 
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.

  
NATURAL ALTERNATIVES
INTERNATIONAL, INC.

By:  /s/ Roger H. Heintzelman   By:  /s/ Kenneth Wolf
Name: Roger H. Heintzelman   Name:  Kenneth Wolf
Title:  Director   Title:  COO & CFO
Date:  4/27/11   Date:  4/27/11

   By:   
   Name:  
   Title:  
   Date:  

 
39



Exhibit 31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)

I, Mark A. LeDoux, Chief Executive Officer of Natural Alternatives International, Inc., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Natural Alternatives International, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: May 16, 2011
 

/s/ Mark A. LeDoux
Mark A. LeDoux, Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)

I, Kenneth E. Wolf, Chief Financial Officer of Natural Alternatives International, Inc., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Natural Alternatives International, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: May 16, 2011
 

/s/ Kenneth E. Wolf
Kenneth E. Wolf, Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32

Certification
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code)

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code), each of the
undersigned officers of Natural Alternatives International, Inc., a Delaware corporation, does hereby certify, to such officer’s knowledge, that the Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2011 of Natural Alternatives International, Inc. fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 78o(d)) and that information contained in such report fairly presents, in all
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Natural Alternatives International, Inc.
 

Date: May 16, 2011   /s/ Mark A. LeDoux
  Mark A. LeDoux, Chief Executive Officer

Date: May 16, 2011   /s/ Kenneth E. Wolf
  Kenneth E. Wolf, Chief Financial Officer

The foregoing certification is furnished solely pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter
63 of Title 18, United States Code) and is not being filed as part of the Form 10-Q or as a separate disclosure document.
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